Edgar Filing: PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES INC \DE\ - Form 10-K

PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES INC \DE\
Form 10-K
April 01, 2011



Edgar Filing: PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES INC \DE\ - Form 10-K

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)

b ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010

0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 0-27460

PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES,
INCORPORATED

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 16-1158413
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
Organization)
205 Indigo Creek Drive 14626
Rochester, New York (Zip Code)

(Address of principal executive offices)

Registrant s telephone number, including area code:
(585) 256-0200

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
Common Stock, par value $.01 per share The Nasdaq Stock Market, LL.C

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None



Edgar Filing: PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES INC \DE\ - Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. Yeso Nop

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act. Yeso Nop

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yesp Noo

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate website, if any,
every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of
this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and
post such files). Yesp Noo
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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. b

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and smaller reporting
company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer o Non-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company p
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yeso Nop
The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the close of business on
June 30, 2010 was approximately $20,057,002, based on the closing price of the registrant s common stock on the

NASDAQ Global Market on that date.

The number of shares outstanding of the registran'ts Common Stock, $.01 par value, was 11,116,397 as of March 30,
2011.
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PART 1

AFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE
ECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the Reform Act ) provides a safe harbor for forward-looking
statements. Certain written and oral statements made by management of Performance Technologies, Incorporated and

its subsidiaries (collectively PT ) include forward-looking statements intended to qualify for the safe harbor from

liability established by the Reform Act. These forward-looking statements generally can be identified by words such

as believes, expects, anticipates, projects, foresees, forecasts, estimates or other words or phrases of simile
Words such as the Company, PT, management, we, us, or our, mean Performance Technologies, Incorporate:
subsidiaries. All statements herein that describe PT s business strategy, outlook, objectives, plans, intentions, goals or

similar projections are also forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Reform Act.

All such forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties and should be evaluated in light of
important risk factors. These risk factors include, but are not limited to, the following as well as those that are
described in Risk Factors under Item 1A and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K: business and economic
conditions, rapid technological changes accompanied by frequent new product introductions, competitive pressures,
dependence on key customers, inability to gauge order flows from customers, fluctuations in quarterly and annual
results, the reliance on a limited number of third party suppliers, limitations of the Company s manufacturing capacity
and arrangements, the protection of the Company s proprietary technology, errors or defects in our products, the effects
of pending or threatened litigation, the dependence on key personnel, changes in critical accounting estimates,

potential impairments related to investments, foreign regulations, and potential material weaknesses in internal

control over financial reporting. In addition, during weak or uncertain economic periods, customers Vvisibility
deteriorates causing delays in the placement of their orders. These factors often result in a substantial portion of the
Company s revenue being derived from orders placed within a quarter and shipped in the final month of the same
quarter.

Any of these factors could cause PT s actual results to differ materially from its anticipated results. For a more
detailed discussion of these factors, see the "Risk Factors" discussion in Item 1A in this Annual Report on Form
10-K. The Company cautions readers to carefully consider such factors. Many of these factors are beyond the
Company s control.

Available Information

PART | 7
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The Company s website address is www.pt.com. The Company makes available free of charge via a hypertext link on
its website, its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any
amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission ( SEC ). The Company will provide this information upon
written request to the attention of the Chief Financial Officer, Performance Technologies, Incorporated, 205 Indigo
Creek Drive, Rochester, New York 14626. Materials we provide to the SEC are also available for the public to read
and copy through the SEC website at www.sec.gov or at the SEC Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 20549 or by calling 1-800-SEC-0330.

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATESECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 19958
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ITEM 1 Business

Overview

Performance Technologies, Incorporated ( PT ), a Delaware corporation founded in 1981, is a global supplier of
advanced network communications solutions to carrier, government and OEM markets.

PT s product portfolio includes IP-centric network elements and applications designed for high availability, scalability,
and long life cycle deployments. The Company s entire line of offerings is anchored by IPnexu8, PT s own IP-native,
highly integrated platforms and element management systems. OEMs and application developers, including PT itself,
leverage the robust carrier grade Linux® development environment and rich suite of communications protocols
(Nexusware®) of IPnexus Application-Ready Systems as a cornerstone component of their end product value

proposition. PT s SEGway Signaling Solutions provide low cost, high density signaling, advanced routing, IP
migration, gateway capabilities, SIP bridging, and core-to-edge distributed intelligence. In January 2011, PT

expanded its signaling product portfolio with the acquisition of GENBAND s Universal Signaling Platform ( USP ) and
SP2000 signaling technology. The Company s Xpress SIP-based applications enable evolving Mobile 2.0,
Multi-media, and IMS-based revenue generating services.

PT is headquartered in Rochester, New York and maintains direct sales and marketing offices in the U.S. in Raleigh,
North Carolina and Chicago, Illinois and international offices in London, England and Shanghai, China, and has
centers of engineering excellence in San Diego, California, and Kanata, Ontario, Canada, in addition to Rochester,
New York.

As used in this report, unless otherwise indicated, the terms Company, PT, management, we, our, and us refe
Performance Technologies, Incorporated and its subsidiaries.

Strategy

Overview 9
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The Company strategy is to maximize the value proposition of its products by leveraging its field-proven systems,
software and hardware technologies. Management believes the tightly integrated combination of these technologies
results in considerable benefits to its customers including a compelling return-on-investment proposition, significant
development risk mitigation and a substantially accelerated time-to-market opportunity.

Early in 2009, management outlined a multi-year strategic plan for the Company. This plan encompassed four
specific initiatives to construct a solid foundation for long-term growth. These initiatives include further
strengthening our SEGway Signaling Systems product line, continued evolution and enhancement of our IPnexus
Application-Ready Systems for mission critical communications applications, intensifying our market diversification
efforts in government systems and defense markets, and identifying forward-looking network communications growth
opportunities, such as our Xpress product portfolio of SIP-based applications and enabling infrastructure, that we can
pursue with our own end product solutions.

In the fourth quarter 2009, management proactively undertook several new investments to further position PT for
growth as business conditions improve. The timing of this decision was based upon forward-looking market data that
we expected would drive opportunities for our technologies. At a high level, a sampling of these market indicators
included: forecasted mobile handset growth in 2010, wireless growth opportunities in emerging markets and
increasing government-driven communications infrastructure expenditures. These investments included hiring
additional direct sales people to bolster our sales organization, the addition of several positions to our research and
development team and the expansion of our product management team. Management strongly believed these
investments were needed to further position PT for growth as business conditions improve.

Overview 10
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During the second half of 2010, it became apparent that the economic and industry trends that occurred did not drive
growth for PT s products to the degree expected. Therefore, in December 2010, PT announced an expense reduction
program to substantially reduce its operating expenses while retaining the resources necessary to meet our ongoing
customer commitments, continue to strengthen our product offerings and continue to deliver excellence in customer
support. Management believes that while it was necessary to make these reductions for financial reasons, the
significant strategic investments made during 2010 were important in underpinning a solid foundation for long-term
future growth. Further expense reductions may be necessary in 2011 if PT s revenues do not increase as expected.

There are significant risks associated with PT s strategy in the current economic climate. While management believes
that its network communications market focus offers opportunities for growth in the long term, network infrastructure
investments by carriers are very sluggish, the market for certain signaling products is declining and the market for
SIP-based products is not growing rapidly enough to offset these declines. Based on the current economic
environment, which may involve new risks not currently identifiable, management believes that realizing meaningful
profitability in the near term is likely to be very difficult.

Market Overview

PT s business addresses one industry segment Communications, and globally targets two primary vertical markets for
its network communications products: telecommunications, and military, aerospace and government systems. The
telecommunications market, historically our largest vertical market, is fundamentally driven by investments in

network infrastructure by carriers and service providers. Telecommunications market revenues derived from our
IPnexus Application-Ready Systems products, which are sold to OEMs, depend primarily on broad, multi-year
deployments of next-generation telecommunications infrastructure.

For 2010, the new norm in our OEM business appears to be that OEM customers place orders for product only when
they have orders in hand from their customers and expect almost immediate delivery. Telecommunications market
revenues generated from end user solutions, such as our SEGway and Xpress product lines, result from investments
necessary to support existing and evolving service demands such as text messaging and the transition to Internet-based
communications networks. During 2010, the economy recovered unevenly around the world and business conditions
continued to remain very challenging in the telecommunications equipment market. Sales into the military, aerospace
and government systems market are typically to prime contractors and system integrators that reflect investment levels
by various government agencies and military branches in specific programs and projects requiring enhanced
communications capabilities. The opportunity for government funded network infrastructure and military related
expenditures remains positive but the timing of awarded business for the most part is highly unpredictable. Our
Xpress product line is generating interest from both telecommunications and government customers. During the third
quarter 2010, PT began a pilot program with a government customer to demonstrate the Xpress products capabilities
in a communications cost reduction program. Forward-looking visibility on customer orders continues to be at record
low levels.

Overview 11
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Products

PT s product portfolio includes SEGway Signaling Solutions which provide low cost, high density signaling, advanced
routing, IP migration, gateway capabilities, SIP bridging, and core-to-edge distributed intelligence and our [Pnexus
Application-Ready Systems which anchors a growing portfolio of PT solutions. These products are built on PT s own
U.S. manufactured hardware combined with PT s NexusWare Carrier Grade Linux operating system and software
development environment. In January 2011, PT expanded its signaling product portfolio with the acquisition of
GENBAND s Universal Signaling Platform ( USP ) and SP2000 signaling technology.

Overview 12
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SEGway Signaling Solutions: PT s premier suite of IP-centric STPs, gateways, edges, and network applications
permits service providers to cost effectively deliver revenue generating features in next-generation networks.
SEGway solutions have been deployed in numerous world-class carrier networks around the globe because of their
high density and unparalleled price-to-performance ratio. This, together with SEGway s flexibility in edge-to-core
deployments, small footprint, and ease of use, has earned the portfolio its reputation as "Simply Smarter Signaling®.

Deployed for over ten years, PT s SEGway Signaling solutions, which are built on our I[Pnexus Application-Ready
systems, provide a full suite of signaling capabilities that seamlessly operate in both circuit-switched and IP-based
networks to address the signaling needs of wireless and wireline carriers and service providers.

IPnexus Application-Ready Systems: PT s IPnexus Application-Ready Systems are designed for high availability,
scalability, and long life cycle deployments. These systems are PT s own IP-native, highly integrated platforms and
element management systems. OEMs and application developers, including PT itself, leverage PT s carrier grade
Linux development environment and suite of communications protocols (Nexusware) as a cornerstone component of
their end product value proposition.

Management believes that the tightly integrated combination of systems, hardware and software technologies found in the Company s
IPnexus Systems provides measurable benefits to our customers through development risk mitigation and substantially accelerated
time-to-market metrics. Furthermore, the IPnexus product line is built upon a fundamental premise of long life cycle deployment that is
fully supported by PT, as opposed to offerings from some of our competitors.

Xpress SIP Applications: In 2010, PT introduced its newest product line, Xpress, a portfolio of SIP-based applications and enabling
infrastructure for next-generation network (NGN) architectures. The adoption of voice-over-packet architectures by wireless and
wireline carriers, and the emergence of SIP (Session Initiation Protocol) as the predominant next-generation network protocol have
presented new opportunities for service providers to market media-rich and web-friendly applications to their subscribers. PT s Xpress
product line is a new approach for delivering these capabilities in the most cost effective manner. Based on a pure IP implementation,
new service offerings can be quickly developed and readily deployed, network wide, on IMS-enabled, converged TDM/IP and VoIP
networks.

Universal Signaling Point and SP2000 products: In January 2011, PT acquired specific signaling assets from
GENBAND that included its Universal Signaling Point (USP) and SP2000 products and related intellectual property
rights. In addition, PT has entered into a long-term agreement with GENBAND under which PT will provide
GENBAND with development, support and maintenance of signaling solutions as integral elements of GENBAND s
premier switching portfolio.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

Management believes that the tightly integrated combination of systems, hardware and software technologiBes founc
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PT markets its products worldwide to a variety of customers through its direct sales force and various channels
including OEMs, Value Added Resellers (VARs), distributors and systems integrators. More emphasis is being
placed on channel sales, but currently the majority of PT's business is sold through PT's direct sales force.

Xpress SIP Applications: In 2010, PT introduced its newest product line, Xpress, a portfolio of SIP-basediapplicatic
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Due to the highly technical nature of PT's products, it is essential that PT's salespeople are technically oriented and are
knowledgeable in the communications, networking and embedded systems fields. To supplement its sales force, PT
has customer engineers who assist prospective customers in determining if PT s products will meet their requirements.

At year end 2010, PT had a total of 45 sales, marketing and sales support personnel located in various U.S. offices
including: Rochester, New York; Raleigh, North Carolina; Chicago, Illinois; San Jose, California and internationally
in London, England and Shanghai, China. In addition, PT had a total of 18 individual and corporate independent sales
representatives and agents at December 31, 2010.

PT executes various ongoing marketing strategies designed to attract new customers and to stimulate additional
business with existing customers. These strategies include web-based activities, technology seminars, direct mail and
email campaigns, telemarketing, active participation in technical standards groups, participation in regional, national
and international trade shows, placement of selected trade press advertisements and the authoring of technical articles.

Sales to customers outside of the United States represented 58%, 53% and 60% of PT's revenue in 2010, 2009 and
2008, respectively. In 2010 and 2009, export shipments to the United Kingdom represented 26% and 15% of sales,
respectively. International sales are subject to risks of import and export controls, transportation delays and foreign
governmental regulations. Payments for shipments from the United States to outside the United States are generally
made in U.S. dollars.

In October 2010, PT entered into a strategic partnership with Velleros, a provider of high capacity aggregation and
delivery notification systems for network-aware content. PT will integrate Velleros CMAS Service Provider (CMSP)
Gateway with PT s SEGway and [Pnexus platforms enabling carriers to transmit emergency alerts over existing
telecom networks. The same solution can also support revenue generating applications such as Community
Notification, Personalized Content Management, and Mobile Marketing and Advertising. PT will distribute and
support the combined product through its direct sales organization. This partnership coincides with the initial testing
of a nationwide program resulting from the Warning Alert and Response Network (WARN) Act in which all U.S.
carriers will be required by the FCC to adopt technology by April 2012 that alerts subscribers to urgent notifications
from the Department of Homeland Security, FEMA, National Weather Service, and other official organizations and
law enforcement agencies.

In January 2011, PT entered into a long-term agreement with GENBAND under which PT will provide GENBAND
with development, support and maintenance of signaling solutions as integral elements of GENBAND s premier
switching portfolio.

Xpress SIP Applications: In 2010, PT introduced its newest product line, Xpress, a portfolio of SIP-basedidpplicatic



Edgar Filing: PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES INC \DE\ - Form 10-K

Customers

PT has approximately 125 customers worldwide in the telecommunications and government systems and defense
markets. Many of PT s major customers are Fortune 1000 companies in the United States or companies of similar
stature in Europe, Israel, Africa and Asia. In 2010, PT s two traditionally largest customers, Metaswitch Networks and
Alcatel-Lucent, represented 24% and 5% of sales, respectively, and PT s four largest customers (Metaswitch
Networks, Alcatel-Lucent, Leap Wireless/Cricket, and Raytheon) together represented 39% of sales. In 2009, PT s
two traditionally largest customers, Metaswitch Networks and Alcatel-Lucent, represented 15% and 8% of sales,
respectively, and PT s four largest customers (Metaswitch Networks, Alcatel-Lucent, Leap Wireless/Cricket, and
Raytheon) together represented 36% of sales. In 2008, PT s two largest customers, Metaswitch Networks and
Alcatel-Lucent, represented 17% and 11% of sales, respectively, and PT s four largest customers (Metaswitch
Networks, Alcatel-Lucent, Alltel Communications and Bakcell Ltd.) together represented 40% of sales.

Xpress SIP Applications: In 2010, PT introduced its newest product line, Xpress, a portfolio of SIP-basedidpplicatic
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In 2010, approximately 81% of PT s revenue came from the telecommunications industry and 19% from the military,
aerospace and government systems market.

SEGway Signaling Solutions Customers: Announced customers for our SEGway Signaling Solutions include Alcatel-Lucent, Alltel
Communications (now Verizon), Bakcell Ltd., Cable and Wireless Guernsey, Comfone, Elephant Talk, Ericsson, GeoLink, Globacom,
Hawaiian Telcom, Leap Wireless, Pocket Communications, Primus Telecommunications, Siemens, Starcomms, Syniverse, Telefonica
Moviles Espana, Tata Communications (formerly Teleglobe) and VeriSign.

IPnexus Application-Ready Systems Customers: Announced customers for our IPnexus Application-Ready Systems include:
Alcatel-Lucent, Aviat Networks, AudioCodes, Metaswitch Networks, FAA, General Dynamics, Hewlett Packard, Lockheed Martin,
Motorola, Nokia Siemens, Northrup Grumman, Raytheon, Rockwell Collins, Sun Microsystems (now Oracle Coporation), Stratus and
Vados Systems.

The loss of one or more of our larger customers, the reduction, delay or cancellation of orders, or a delay in shipment
of our products to such customers, would have a material adverse effect on our revenue and operating results.

Backlog

The scheduled backlog of orders amounted to $6.0 million and $4.8 million at February 1, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The year-over-year increase is due to the effect of a $1.2 million decrease in January 2011 shipments as
compared with January 2010. Backlog amounts for 2011 are expected to be shipped and recognized in revenue prior
to the end of the year. Orders are subject to postponement of delivery or cancellation in the normal course of
business. A substantial portion of PT s revenue in each quarter results from orders placed within the quarter and
shipped in the final month of the same quarter. Due to the global economic climate, forward-looking visibility on
customer orders is very challenging. (See Management's Discussion & Analysis included elsewhere in this report).

Seasonality

PT's business is not generally subject to large seasonal swings but business is frequently slower during the summer
months due to the European and United States vacation seasons. Some of PT s customers have seasonal swings in
their business which are reflected in their orders with PT. Much of PT s business is project-related, which can cause
quarterly fluctuations in revenue.

Environmental Matters

SEGway Signaling Solutions Customers: Announced customers for our SEGway Signaling Solutions incltide Alcat:



Edgar Filing: PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES INC \DE\ - Form 10-K

PT complies with U.S. federal, state and local laws relating to the protection of the environment and believes that
environmental matters do not have any material effect on its capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position.
Further, PT complies with national laws relating to the protection of the environment in all end country markets
served by export sales.

If the products that we produce in the future do not comply with a country s laws relating to the protection of the
environment, we would be unable to sell our products into those markets and our operating results would be harmed.

Competition

PT s SEGway Signaling solutions satisfy a wide range and scale of signaling requirements, most of which typically
involve some component of utilizing Internet Protocol (IP) to carry signaling traffic. PT s SEGway Signaling solutions
currently compete with products from Tekelec, Huawei, Ericsson, Nokia-Siemens Networks and Cisco Systems.

IPnexus Application-Ready Systems Customers: Announced customers for our IPnexus Application-Read@ Systen
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Embedded purpose-built computer systems are either based on proprietary technology or are based on open standards.
PT s IPnexus Application-Ready Systems are open standards based, which is the smaller portion of this market. A key
differentiating factor of PT s IPnexus Systems products is PT s internally developed NexusWare Carrier Grade Linux
operating system and software development environment. We believe this is a key competitive advantage in our
marketplace because many of PT s competitors provide third party operating systems with their products.

The OEM communications equipment market is characterized by rapid technological change and frequent
introduction of products based on new technologies. Competitive factors in this market include price, product
performance, functionality, product quality and reliability, customer service and support, marketing capability,
corporate reputation and brand recognition, and changes in relative price/performance ratios. PT s IPnexus
Application-Ready Systems compete in certain open standards-based markets, specifically AdvancedMC/uTCA and
CompactPCI 2.16.

Competitors providing some level of systems offerings include Emerson, Radisys, GE Fanuc, Kontron and
Continuous Computing. Management believes that PT s capability to deliver fully integrated, system-level solutions
with a substantial software component including its NexusWare is a key differentiating factor for PT s products.

We cannot guarantee that we will be able to compete successfully with our existing or new competitors or that the
competitive pressures faced by us will not have a material adverse effect on our revenue and operating results.

Research and Development

PT's research and development expenses were approximately $7.8 million, $7.8 million and $9.0 million in 2010,
2009, and 2008, respectively, and were net of capitalized software development costs of $2.3 million, $2.3 million and
$2.1 million, respectively. These expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, material consumed in developing and
designing new products, and amounts expended for software licenses/tools. PT expects to continue to invest heavily
in research and development in order to create innovative next-generation products and maintain competitive
advantages in the communications markets we serve.

During the fourth quarter 2010, PT paid a one-time license fee totaling $.2 million to acquire signaling technology
from Alcatel-Lucent, which technology PT plans to use in synergistic combination with its captive technologies to
develop new end market products. This amount was recorded in property, equipment and improvements. Similarly,
in 2009, PT paid a one-time license fee of $.9 million to acquire certain software technologies, which PT combined
with its captive technologies and released as its Xpress product line in 2010. Of this amount, $.8 million was recorded
in capitalized software development costs and $.1 million was allocated to property, equipment and improvements,
based on the estimated respective fair values of the technologies acquired.

IPnexus Application-Ready Systems Customers: Announced customers for our IPnexus Application-Read® Systen
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PT has significant core competencies associated with advanced network communications and control solutions. PT
provides remotely manageable, IP-centric network solutions, elements and applications specifically engineered for
high availability, scalability, and long life cycle deployments. Its products are built upon our own U.S. manufactured
hardware combined with PT s NexusWare Carrier Grade Linux operating system and software development
environment plus a broad suite of communications protocols and high availability middleware.

10
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Proprietary Technology

PT's success depends in part upon retaining and maximizing its proprietary technologies. To date, PT has relied
principally upon trademark, copyright and trade secret laws to protect its proprietary technology. PT generally enters
into confidentiality or license agreements with its customers, distributors and potential customers that contain
confidentiality provisions, and limits access to, and distribution of, the source code to its software and other

proprietary information. All of PT s employees are subject to PT's employment policy regarding confidentiality. PT s
software products are provided to customers under license, generally in the form of object code, which to date has
provided a high degree of confidentiality with respect to the underlying intellectual property.

Manufacturing and Suppliers

In a fast-paced technology environment, product life cycles generally extend for two to four years. The obsolescence
by manufacturers of individual electronic components used by PT is occurring more rapidly than ever before. During
2010, PT completed the transition of its printed circuit board assembly for the hardware elements of PT s products to a
contract manufacturer, Mack Technologies, Inc. ( Mack ), based near Boston, Massachusetts. The purpose of this
transition was to bring tangible benefits to PT, which includes more predictable product costs, a significant reduction
in capital expenditure requirements, and an enhanced ability to continue to offer cutting-edge technologies in PT s
product lines without sacrificing PT s high standards of quality. The outsourcing of all printed circuit board assembly
to one contract manufacturer presents additional risks, including reliance on Mack s on-time delivery, the quality of
Mack s products, and Mack s financial wherewithal.

In connection with this transfer, Mack is now responsible for the acquisition of most of the electronic components that
go into the Company s printed circuit board products. Mack has considerably larger buying power based on its
procurement budget than PT had on a stand-alone basis. Still, lack of availability of components can cause delays in
shipments. In addition, the costs and time delays caused by redesigning specific products when components are not
available has become a challenging factor in several cases.

There can be no assurance that future component supplies will be adequate for the Company s needs or will be available on prices and
terms acceptable to PT. Mack s or PT s inability in the future to obtain sufficient limited-source components, or to develop alternative
sources, could result in delays in product introduction or shipments; and increased component prices could negatively affect PT s gross
margins, either of which would have a material adverse effect on PT s revenue and operating results.

In the event of an interruption of production at PT s outsourcing vendors or its Rochester manufacturing facility, PT's

ability to deliver products in a timely fashion would be compromised, which could have a material adverse effect on
PT s results of operations.

There can be no assurance that future component supplies will be adequate for the Company s needs or2@ill be av
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Employees

As of December 31, 2010, PT had 168 full-time, four part-time and contract employees, and one engineering
cooperative education student. Management believes its relations with its employees are generally good. PT s
employees are not subject to collective bargaining agreements.

PT s full-time employees work in the following areas:

Research and Development 68

Sales and Marketing 45

Manufacturing 37

General and Administrative 18

Total 168
11
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After giving effect to the Company s restructuring program which was announced in December 2010 and is expected
to be completed in the first quarter 2011, the Company will have approximately 152 full-time employees.
Management believes that PT's future success will depend on its ability to continue to attract and retain qualified
personnel.

ITEM 1A _Risk Factors
Our global growth is subject to a number of economic risks.

Our revenue and profitability depend on the overall demand for our products and related services and the successful
implementation of our strategy. As widely reported, the financial markets in the United States, Europe and Asia have
experienced extreme disruption, including, among other things, extreme volatility in investment valuations, severely
diminished liquidity and credit availability, rating downgrades of certain investments and declining valuations of
others. Governments have taken unprecedented actions intended to address extreme market conditions that include
severely restricted credit and declines in real estate values. There can be no assurance that there will not be a further
deterioration in financial markets and confidence in major economies. These economic developments affect
businesses such as ours in a number of ways. Tightening of credit in financial markets adversely affects the ability of
our customers to obtain financing for significant purchases and operations and could result in a decrease in or
cancellation of orders for our products and services as well as impact the ability of our customers to make payments.
Similarly, tight credit may adversely affect our supplier base and increase the potential for one or more of our
suppliers to experience financial distress or bankruptcy.

Our global business is also adversely affected by decreases in the general level of economic activity, such as
decreased capital expenditures by telecommunications service providers, decreases in general business and consumer
spending, and government procurement. Many carriers/service providers have been cautious of making investments
in infrastructure during difficult economic times, which customarily results in reduced budgets and spending. This
can impact us through reduced revenues, elongated selling cycles, delays in product implementation and increased
competitive margin pressure. Fluctuations in the rate of exchange for the U.S. Dollar against certain major currencies
such as the Euro, the Pound Sterling, the Canadian Dollar and other currencies also have an effect of making our
products more or less costly for foreign customers and can adversely affect our results. We are unable to predict the
likely duration and severity of the current adverse economic conditions in the U.S. and other countries, and are unable
to fully anticipate the effect that the current economic conditions will have on our business.

If we do not respond adequately to technological change, our competitive position will decline.

The market for our products is generally characterized by rapid technological change and frequent introduction of
products based on new technologies. Additionally, application of our IPnexus Application-Ready Systems, especially
as targeted at the telecommunications industry, is volatile as the effects of new technologies, new standards, and new
products contribute to changes in the market and the performance of industry participants. Our future revenue will
depend upon our ability to anticipate technological changes and to develop and introduce enhanced products on a
timely basis that meet customer requirements and comply with industry standards. New product introductions, or the
delays thereof, could contribute to quarterly fluctuations in operating results as orders for new products commence
and orders for existing products decline. Moreover, significant delays can occur between a product introduction and
commencement of volume production, typically twelve to eighteen months. The inability to develop and manufacture
new products in a timely manner, the existence of reliability, quality or availability problems in our products or their
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component parts, or the failure to achieve market acceptance for our products would have a material adverse effect on
our revenue and operating results. Further, current technologies may become obsolete before being replaced by new
technologies, which would have a material adverse effect on our revenue and operating results.

12
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We operate in an extremely competitive industry and our revenues and operating results will suffer if we do
not compete effectively.

The communications marketplace we are focused on is extremely competitive. We face a number of large and small
competitors. Many of our principal competitors have established brand name recognition and market positions and
have substantially greater experience and financial resources than we do to deploy on promotion, advertising, research
and product development. In addition, we expect to face competition from new competitors. Companies in related
markets could offer products with functionality similar or superior to that offered by our products. Increased
competition could result in price reductions, reduced margins and loss of market share, all of which would materially
and adversely affect our revenue and operating results. Several of our competitors have recently been acquired.
These acquisitions are likely to permit our competition to devote significantly greater resources on the development
and marketing of new competitive products and the marketing of existing competitive products to their larger installed
bases. We expect that competition will increase substantially as a result of these and other industry consolidations and
alliances, as well as the emergence of new competitors. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to compete
successfully with our existing or new competitors or that the competitive pressures faced by us will not have a
material adverse effect on our revenue and operating results.

We depend on a number of key customers, the loss of any of which, or the substantially decreased demand
from which, would harm our revenues and operating results.

We cannot assure that our principal customers will continue to purchase products from us at current levels. Customers
typically do not enter into long-term volume purchase contracts with us and customers have certain rights to extend or
delay the shipment of their orders. The loss of one or more of our major customers, the reduction, delay or
cancellation of orders, or a delay in shipment of our products to such customers, would have a material adverse effect
on our revenue and operating results.

Carriers and service providers in our target markets are experiencing consolidation which could delay or
cancel ongoing network infrastructure expansion and upgrade programs.

The global telecommunications industry is experiencing consolidation. While these activities may strengthen the
industry in the long term, they are often disruptive to ongoing capital programs and projects in the short term. These
disruptions and delays can have a material adverse effect on our revenue and operating results.

Our annual and quarterly results can fluctuate greatly, which can have a disproportionate effect on net income
and the price of our common stock.

Our future annual and quarterly operating results can fluctuate significantly depending on factors such as the timing
and shipment of significant orders, new product introductions by us and our competitors, market acceptance of new
and enhanced versions of our products, changes in pricing policies by us and our competitors, inability to obtain
sufficient supplies of sole or limited source components for our products, and general economic conditions. Our
expense levels are based, in part, on our expectations as to future revenue. Since a substantial portion of our revenue
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in each quarter results from orders placed within the quarter and often shipped in the final weeks of that quarter,
revenue levels are difficult to predict. If revenue levels are below expectations, operating results will be adversely
affected. Net income would be disproportionately affected by a reduction in revenue because only a small portion of
our net expenses varies with our revenue. In addition, our common stock is thinly traded and fluctuations in operating
results can cause significant fluctuations in the price of our common stock.

13
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We depend on a limited number of third-party suppliers to provide us and our contract manufacturer with
important components for our products. If we were unable to obtain components from these suppliers, our
revenue and operating results would suffer.

In a fast-paced technology environment, product life cycles extend for approximately two to four years and the
obsolescence by manufacturers of individual electronic components used by the Company is occurring more rapidly
than ever before. Certain components used in our products are currently available to us from only one or a limited
number of sources. There can be no assurance that future supplies will be adequate for our needs or will be available
on prices and terms acceptable to us. Our inability in the future to obtain sufficient limited-source components, or to
develop alternative sources, could result in delays in product introduction or shipments, and increased component
prices could negatively affect our gross margins, either of which would have a material adverse effect on our revenue
and operating results.

Potential limitations in our manufacturing arrangements could impair our ability to meet our customers
expectations.

In order to fulfill orders for customers in the most optimal manner for a volume and mix of business, we have
historically manufactured the majority of our products at our Rochester, New York facility. However, as of October
2010, we outsourced the manufacturing of all our printed circuit board assemblies for our products to an outside
contract manufacturer. In addition, certain elements of these products, such as platform chassis, are manufactured by
other contract manufacturers. We do not have alternative manufacturing capabilities to perform manufacturing of our
products. Even if we were able to identify alternative third-party contract manufacturers, we cannot assume that we
would be able to retain their services on terms and conditions acceptable to us. In the event of an interruption in
production or damage to our manufacturing facility from a natural disaster or other catastrophic event, either of which
would cause interruptions or delays in our manufacturing process, we would not be able to deliver products on a
timely basis, which would have a material adverse effect on our revenue and operating results. Although we currently
have business interruption insurance, we cannot be assured that such insurance would adequately cover our lost
business as a result of such an interruption.

If we do not adequately protect our proprietary technology, or if we infringe on the intellectual property rights
of others, our revenues and operating results would suffer.

Our success, in part, depends upon our proprietary technologies. To date, we have relied principally upon trademark,
copyright and trade secret laws to protect our proprietary technologies. We generally enter into confidentiality or
license agreements with our customers, distributors and potential customers and limit access to, and distribution of,
the source code to our software and other proprietary information. Our employees are subject to our employment
policy regarding confidentiality. We cannot assure that the steps taken by us in this regard will be adequate to prevent
misappropriation of our technologies or to provide an effective remedy in the event of a misappropriation by others.
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Because of the existence of an extremely large number of patents in the communications industry and the rapid rate of
new patents granted or new standards or new technology developed, we may have to obtain technology licenses from
others. We do not know whether these third party technology licenses will be available to us on commercially
reasonable terms. The loss of, or inability to obtain, any of these technology licenses could result in delays or
reductions in our product shipments. Any such delays or reductions in product shipments would have a material
adverse effect on our revenue and operating results. Furthermore, although we believe that our products do not
intentionally infringe on the proprietary rights of third parties, we cannot assure that infringement claims will not be
asserted, resulting in costly litigation in which we may not ultimately prevail. Adverse determinations in such
litigation could result in the loss of our proprietary rights, subject us to significant liabilities, and require us to seek
licenses from third parties or prevent us from manufacturing or selling our products, any of which would have a
material adverse effect on our revenue and operating results.
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A third party competitor is pursuing claims that we are infringing upon their intellectual property rights. While we
believe that the basis of these claims is without merit, defending ourselves against these claims has been and is
expected to continue to be time consuming and costly. Such claims of intellectual property infringement also might
require us to redesign affected products, enter into costly settlement or license agreements or pay costly damage
awards, or face a temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting us from marketing or selling certain of our products.
It is not uncommon in such matters that while such claims are being pursued and remain unresolved, customer
demand for related products may be negatively impacted. In the event of a detrimental final outcome, if we are unable
to license the alleged infringed intellectual property on reasonable terms or substitute similar technology from another
source, our revenue and earnings would be adversely impacted.

We depend on a number of key personnel. The loss of these people, or delays in replacing them, would harm
our operating results.

Our success depends on the continued contributions of our personnel, many of whom would be difficult to replace, if
they left us. Changes in personnel could adversely affect our operating results. In addition, although our employees
are subject to our employment policy regarding confidentiality and ownership of inventions, employees are generally
not subject to employment agreements or non-competition covenants and thus they could compete with us if they left
our employment.

We may hold investments in companies from time to time. These investments or other future investments are
subject to potential impairment.

We hold investments in privately held companies from time to time. We may make additional investments in the
future in these or other companies. Depending upon the future fortunes of these companies in meeting their operating
objectives, an impairment charge or reserves could be recorded on these investments in the future. The occurrence of
a future impairment or additional reserve would adversely affect our results of operations.

We are subject to certain foreign regulations that restrict the distribution of products containing certain
substances. Failure to comply with these foreign regulations would harm our operating results.

Foreign and domestic governmental agencies periodically issue directives pertaining to the distribution of products
which contain certain substances. While we believe we are in full compliance with all such existing directives, if in
the future the products that we produce do not comply with existing or similar directives, we would be unable to sell
our products into those markets and our operating results would be harmed.

Errors or defects in our products could result in disputes, litigation and product liability claims by our
customers and could diminish demand for our products, injure our reputation and adversely affect our

operating results.

Our products are very complex and may contain errors or defects that could be detected at any point in the life of the
product. While we have rigorous quality control and testing procedures for our products, we can provide no absolute
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assurances that errors or defects will not be found in our products until deployment or long after a product has been
deployed. Our products, even if error free, must interoperate with other vendors equipment in our customers networks
and such operation could result in technical problems with our products. A warranty or product liability claim brought
against us could result in costly, highly disruptive and time-consuming litigation, which could harm our business.
Although our agreements with our customers contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential warranty
and product liability claims, it is possible that these limitations may not be effective to cover all claims. Although we
maintain product liability insurance, it may not be sufficient to cover all claims to which we may be subject. Errors
and defects or failures to properly interoperate, could cause diminished demand for our products, delays in market
acceptance and sales, diversion of development resources, injury to our reputation, increased service and warranty
costs or could result in disputes, litigation and product liability losses with our customers. If any of these were to
occur, there would be a material adverse effect to our revenue and operating results.
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In future periods, we may experience material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting,
which could adversely affect our ability to report our financial condition and results of operations accurately
and on a timely basis.

Material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting could adversely impact our ability to provide
timely and accurate financial information. If we identify material weaknesses, we may not be able to timely or
accurately report our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows or maintain effective disclosure controls
and procedures. If we are unable to report financial information timely and accurately or to maintain effective
disclosure controls and procedures, we could be subject to, among other things, regulatory or enforcement actions,
securities litigation, and a general loss of investor confidence, any one of which could adversely affect our business
prospects and the valuation of our common stock.

ITEM 1B _Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 2 - Properties

PT s corporate headquarters is located in 57,000 square feet of leased office and manufacturing space in Rochester,
New York. This lease expires in 2012. Corporate headquarters includes executive offices, along with sales,
marketing, engineering and manufacturing operations. The current space exceeds our expected requirements and PT
expects to relocate to more suitable space at the end of the lease. PT owns land adjacent to this facility. PT has a
center for engineering excellence located in 8,600 square feet of office space in San Luis Obispo, California and,
while this lease expires in August 2012, PT has exercised its right under the lease to terminate the lease as of April 30,
2011. The engineering operations presently conducted at the San Luis Obispo facility are being consolidated into the
Rochester, New York engineering group.

PT also leases sales and engineering office space in San Diego, California under a lease which expires in November
2013. PT s Signaling Systems Group is located in 16,000 square feet of office space located in Kanata Ontario
(Canada), a suburb of Ottawa. This lease expires in October 2011. The Company has begun negotiations to extend
this lease and will consider alternative office space options in the Ottawa area should those negotiations not prove
successful. PT s European, Middle East and Africa marketing group occupies leased office space near London,
England. The lease for this space expires in March 2012. In addition, PT leases a sales/marketing office in
Connecticut.
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ITEM 3 - Legal Proceedings

From time to time, PT is involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of its operations in the normal course of
business.
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The Company is defending itself in litigation with Tekelec, a California corporation headquartered in Morrisville,
North Carolina. Tekelec alleges that certain of the Company s signaling systems products infringe six of Tekelec s
issued patents and seeks a determination of infringement, a preliminary and permanent injunction from further
infringement and an unspecified amount of damages. The Company believes that the basis for Tekelec s infringement
claims is without merit and PT continues to vigorously defend itself against those claims. No liability has been
recorded relating to this matter because of the uncertainty of its eventual outcome and the inability to estimate the
amount of damages that may be assessed, if any.

PT is not presently a party to any other legal proceedings, the adverse outcome of which, individually or in the
aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on PT s results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

ITEM 4 - Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Reserved

PART 11

ITEM 5 - Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

PT's common stock is traded on NASDAQ Global Market under the trading symbol "PTIX." The following table sets
forth the high and low closing prices of the common stock for each quarter during the two most recent years, as
reported on NASDAQ Global Market. These prices represent quotations among securities dealers without
adjustments for retail markups, markdowns or commissions and may not represent actual transactions.

2009 High Low
First Quarter $ 2098 $ 259
Second Quarter 2.81 2.33
Third Quarter 2.49 2.06
Fourth Quarter $ 222 $ 162
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2009 High Low
First Quarter $ 3.60 $ 255
Second Quarter 3.04 2.50
Third Quarter 3.09 2.71
Fourth Quarter $ 3.02 $ 2.66

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total return of our common stock at the end of each calendar year since
December 31, 2005 to the NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.) Index, and the NASDAQ Computer Manufacturer Index.
The stock performance shown in the graph below is not intended to forecast or be indicative of future performance.
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As of March 28, 2011, there were 237 stockholders of record of the Company's common stock.

To date, PT has not paid cash dividends on its common stock and has no expectation to do so for the foreseeable
future. PT has not sold any securities during the past three years, other than shares of common stock issued pursuant
to stock option exercises. Reference is made to Item 12 for PT s equity plan information.

ITEM 6 - Selected Financial Data

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

The following selected financial data are derived from our consolidated financial statements:
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For the Year Ended
December 31: 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Sales $ 27946 $ 29,491 $ 40517 $ 40,319 $ 48,405
Net (loss) income (11,177) (10,112 ) 1,663 1,814 1,483

Basic (loss) earnings per
share:

Net (loss) income $ (1.01) $ 091 ) $ 0.14 $ 0.14 3 0.11

Weighted average
common shares 11,116 11,130 11,601 12,581 13,202

Diluted earnings per share:
Net income $ 0.14 % 0.14 § 0.11

Weight average common
and

common equivalent
shares 11,611 12,626 13,344
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At December 31: 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Working capital () $ 23,181 $ 32326 $ 41220 $ 40307 $ 47,700
Total assets $ 40440 $ 48889 $§ 59318 $ 59,520 $ 64,261
Total stockholders' equity $ 32,768 $ 43,616 $ 53447 $ 52896 $ 58,267
(1) defined as current assets less current

liabilities

See Financial Overview of Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
for additional information.

ITEM 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

PT's annual operating performance is subject to various risks and uncertainties. The following discussion should be
read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes, included elsewhere herein, as well
as the risk factors described in Item 1A of this Form 10-K. PT's future operating results may be affected by various
trends and factors, which are beyond PT's control. These risks and uncertainties include, among other factors,
business and economic conditions, rapid technological changes accompanied by frequent new product introductions,
competitive pressures, dependence on key customers, inability to gauge order flows from customers, fluctuations in
quarterly and annual results, the reliance on a limited number of third party suppliers, limitations of the Company s
manufacturing capacity and arrangements, the protection of the Company s proprietary technology, errors or defects in
our products, the effects of pending or threatened litigation, the dependence on key personnel, changes in critical
accounting estimates, potential impairments related to investments, foreign regulations, and potential material
weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting. In addition, during weak or uncertain economic periods,
customers visibility deteriorates causing delays in the placement of their orders. These factors often result in a
substantial portion of the Company s revenue being derived from orders placed within a quarter and shipped in the
final month of the same quarter.

Matters discussed in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and
elsewhere in this Form 10-K, include forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and are subject to the
safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. PT's actual results could differ
materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
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In preparing the financial statements in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (GAAP), estimates and assumptions are required to be made that have an impact on the assets, liabilities,
revenue and expense amounts reported. These estimates can also affect supplemental information disclosures,
including information about contingencies, risk and financial condition. The Company believes that given the current
facts and circumstances, these estimates and assumptions are reasonable, adhere to GAAP, and are consistently
applied. Inherent in the nature of an estimate or assumption is the fact that actual results may differ from estimates,
and estimates may vary as new facts and circumstances arise. Management s judgment in making these estimates and
relying on these assumptions may materially impact amounts reported for any period.

The critical accounting policies, judgments and estimates that we believe have the most significant effect on our
financial statements are set forth below:

. Revenue Recognition

. Software Development Costs
. Valuation of Inventories

. Income Taxes

. Product Warranty
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. Stock-Based Compensation
. Restructuring Costs
. Investments

. Carrying Value of Long-Lived Assets

Revenue Recognition: Revenue is recognized from product sales in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 104, Revenue Recognition. Product sales represent the majority of our revenue and include both hardware
products and hardware products with embedded software. Revenue is recognized from these product sales when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been provided, the sale price is
fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Additionally, products are sold on terms which transfer
title and risk of loss at a specified location, typically the shipping point. Accordingly, revenue recognition from
product sales occurs when all factors are met, including transfer of title and risk of loss, which typically occurs upon
shipment. If these conditions are not met, revenue recognition is deferred until such time as these conditions have
been satisfied.

For the sale of multiple-element arrangements whereby equipment is combined with other elements, such as software
and maintenance, PT allocates to, and recognizes revenue from, the various elements based on their fair value.
Revenue from software requiring significant production, modification, or customization is recognized using the
percentage of completion method of accounting. Anticipated losses on contracts, if any, are charged to operations as
soon as such losses are determined. If all conditions of revenue recognition are not met, revenue recognition is
deferred and revenue will be recognized when all obligations under the arrangement are fulfilled. Revenue from
software maintenance contracts is recognized ratably over the contractual period.

Revenue from consulting and other services is recognized at the time the services are rendered. Certain products are
sold through distributors who are granted limited rights of return. Potential returns are accounted for at the time of
sale.

The accounting estimate related to revenue recognition is considered a critical accounting estimate because terms of
sale can vary, and judgment is exercised in determining whether to defer revenue recognition. Such judgments may
materially affect net sales for any period. Judgment is exercised within the parameters of GAAP in determining when
contractual obligations are met, title and risk of loss are transferred, sales price is fixed or determinable and
collectibility is reasonably assured.
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Software Development Costs: All software development costs incurred in establishing the technological feasibility of
computer software products to be sold are charged to expense as research and development costs. Software
development costs incurred subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility of a computer software
product to be sold and prior to general release of that product are capitalized. Amounts capitalized are amortized
commencing after general release of that product over the estimated remaining economic life of that product,
generally three years, using the straight-line method or using the ratio of current revenues to current and anticipated
revenues from such product, whichever provides greater amortization. If the technological feasibility for a particular
project is judged not to have been met or recoverability of amounts capitalized is in doubt, project costs are expensed
as research and development or charged to cost of goods sold, as applicable. The accounting estimate related to
software development costs is considered a critical accounting estimate because judgment is exercised in determining
whether project costs are expensed as research and development or capitalized as an asset. Such judgments may
materially affect expense amounts for any period. Judgment is exercised within the parameters of GAAP in
determining when technological feasibility has been met and recoverability of software development costs is
reasonably assured.
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Valuation of Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, using the first-in, first-out method.
Inventory includes purchased parts and components, work in process and finished goods. Provisions for excess,
obsolete or slow moving inventory are recorded after periodic evaluation of historical sales, current economic trends,
forecasted sales, estimated product life cycles and estimated inventory levels. Purchasing practices, electronic
component obsolescence, accuracy of sales and production forecasts, introduction of new products, product life
cycles, product support and foreign regulations governing hazardous materials are the factors that contribute to
inventory valuation risks. Exposure to inventory valuation risks is managed by maintaining safety stocks, minimum
purchase lots, managing product end-of-life issues brought on by aging components or new product introductions, and
by utilizing certain inventory minimization strategies such as vendor-managed inventories. The accounting estimate
related to valuation of inventories is considered a critical accounting estimate because it is susceptible to changes from
period-to-period due to the requirement for management to make estimates relative to each of the underlying factors,
ranging from purchasing, to sales, to production, to after-sale support. If actual demand, market conditions or product
life cycles differ from estimates, inventory adjustments to lower market values would result in a reduction to the
carrying value of inventory, an increase in inventory write-offs and a decrease to gross margins.

Income Taxes: PT provides deferred income tax assets and liabilities based on the estimated future tax effects of
differences between the financial and tax bases of assets and liabilities based on currently enacted tax laws. A
valuation allowance is established for deferred tax assets in amounts for which realization is not considered more
likely than not to occur. The accounting estimate related to income taxes is considered a critical accounting estimate
because judgment is exercised in estimating future taxable income, including prudent and feasible tax planning
strategies, and in assessing the need for any valuation allowance. If it should be determined that all or part of a net
deferred tax asset is not able to be realized in the future, an adjustment to the valuation allowance would be charged to
income in the period such determination was made. Likewise, in the event that it should be determined that all or part
of a deferred tax asset in the future is in excess of the net recorded amount, an adjustment to the valuation allowance
would increase income to be recognized in the period such determination was made.

PT operates within multiple taxing jurisdictions worldwide and is subject to audit in these jurisdictions. These audits
can involve complex issues, which may require an extended period of time for resolution. Although management
believes that adequate provision has been made for such issues, there is the possibility that the ultimate resolution of
such issues could have an adverse effect on the earnings of PT. Conversely, if these issues are resolved favorably in
the future, the related provisions would be reduced, thus having a positive impact on earnings.

In addition, the calculation of PT s tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax
regulations. PT recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to
evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more
likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation
processes, if any. The second step requires PT to estimate and measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is
more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. It is inherently difficult and subjective to estimate
such amounts, as this requires PT to determine the probability of various possible outcomes. PT re-evaluates these
uncertain tax positions on a quarterly basis. This evaluation is based on factors including, but not limited to, changes
in facts or circumstances, changes in tax law, effectively settled issues under audit, and new audit activity. Such a
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change in recognition or measurement would result in the recognition of a tax benefit or an additional charge to the
tax provision in the period.

Finally, the value of PT s deferred tax assets is dependent upon PT s ability to generate future taxable income in the
jurisdictions in which PT operates. These assets consist of research credit carry-forwards, capital and net operating

loss carry-forwards, and the future tax effect of temporary differences between balances recorded for financial
statement purposes and for tax return purposes. It will require future pre-tax earnings of in excess of $19 million in
order to fully realize the value of the Company's deferred tax assets. Due to the uncertainty of PT s ability to realize its
deferred tax assets, a valuation allowance has been recorded against substantially the full value of its deferred tax
assets.
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Product Warranty: Warranty obligations are generally incurred in connection with the sale of PT s products. The
warranty period for these products is generally one year. The costs incurred to provide for these warranty obligations
are estimated and recorded as an accrued liability at the time of sale. Future warranty costs are estimated based on
historical performance rates and related costs to repair given products. The accounting estimate related to product
warranty is considered a critical accounting estimate because judgment is exercised in determining future estimated
warranty costs. Should actual performance rates or repair costs differ from estimates, revisions to the estimated
warranty liability would be required.

Stock-Based Compensation: PT s board of directors approves grants of stock options to employees to purchase our
common stock. Stock compensation expense is recorded based upon the estimated fair value of the stock option at the
date of grant. The accounting estimate related to stock-based compensation is considered a "critical accounting
estimate" because estimates are made in calculating compensation expense including expected option lives, forfeiture
rates and expected volatility. Expected option lives are estimated using vesting terms and contractual lives. Expected
forfeiture rates and volatility are calculated using historical information. Actual option lives and forfeiture rates may
be different from estimates and may result in potential future adjustments which would impact the amount of
stock-based compensation expense recorded in a particular period.

Restructuring Costs: Restructuring costs generally consist of employee-related severance costs, lease termination
costs and other facility-related closing expenses. Employee-related severance benefits are recorded either at the time
an employee is notified, or if there are extended service periods, is estimated and recorded pro-rata over the period of
each planned restructuring activity. Lease termination costs are calculated based upon fair value considering the
remaining lease obligation amounts and estimates for sublease receipts. The accounting estimate related to
restructuring costs is considered a "critical accounting estimate" because estimates are made in calculating the amount
of employee-related severance benefits that will ultimately be paid and the amount of sublease receipts that will
ultimately be received in future periods. Actual amounts paid for employee-related severance benefits can vary from
these estimates depending upon the number of employees actually receiving severance payments. Actual sublease
receipts received may also vary from estimates.

Investments: We recognize realized losses when declines in the fair value of our investments, below their cost basis,
are judged to be other-than-temporary. In determining when a decline in fair value is other than temporary, we
consider various factors including market price (if available), investment ratings, the financial condition and near-term
prospects of the investee and the underlying collateral, the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has
been less than our cost basis, the extent to which the investment is guaranteed, the financial health of the guarantor (if
any), and our ability and intent to hold the investment until maturity or for a sufficient period of time to allow for any
anticipated recovery in market value. We make significant judgments in considering these factors. If it were judged
that a decline in fair value is other-than-temporary, the investment is valued as the current fair value and a realized
loss equal to the decline is reflected as an adjustment to net income. Such adjustments could materially adversely
affect our operating results.
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Carrying Value of Long-Lived Assets: PT periodically reviews the carrying values of its long-lived assets, other than
capitalized software development costs and purchased intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. PT assesses
the recoverability of the carrying values of long-lived assets by first grouping its long-lived assets with other assets
and liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other
assets and liabilities (the asset group) and, secondly, by estimating the undiscounted future cash flows that are directly
associated with and that are expected to arise from the use of and eventual disposition of such asset group. PT
estimates the undiscounted cash flows over the remaining useful life of the primary asset within the asset group. If the
carrying value of the asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted cash flows, PT records an impairment charge to
the extent the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. PT determines fair value through quoted
market prices in active markets or, if quoted market prices are unavailable, through the performance of internal
analyses of discounted cash flows. The accounting estimate related to impairment of long-lived assets is considered a

critical accounting estimate because PT s impairment tests include estimates of future cash flows that are dependent
upon subjective assumptions regarding future operating results including revenue growth rates, expense levels,
discount rates, capital requirements and other factors that impact estimated future cash flows and the estimated fair
value of long-lived assets.

Key Performance Indicators

PT believes that a key indicator for its business is the trend for the volume of orders received from customers. During
weak economic periods, customers ability to forecast their requirements deteriorates causing delays in the placement
of orders. Forward-looking visibility on customer orders continues to be very low. Most of our OEM customers are
placing orders for product only when they have orders in hand from their customers. Total shipments to customers in
2010 amounted to $27.9 million, compared to $29.5 million in 2009. This significant decrease in revenue was
attributable to weak demand from most of PT s traditional OEM telecommunications and signaling products customers
and to sharply lower shipments of products to one of the Company s traditionally two largest customers,
Alcatel-Lucent.

Overview

Performance Technologies, Incorporated ( PT ), a Delaware corporation founded in 1981, is a global supplier of
advanced network communications solutions to carrier, government and OEM markets.

PT s product portfolio includes IP-centric network elements and applications designed for high availability, scalability,
and long life cycle deployments. The Company s entire line of offerings is anchored by IPnexu8, PT s own IP-native,
highly integrated platforms and element management systems. OEMs and application developers, including PT itself,
leverage the robust carrier grade Linux® development environment and rich suite of communications protocols
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(Nexusware®) of IPnexus Application-Ready Systems as a cornerstone component of their end product value

proposition. PT s SEGway Signaling Solutions provide low cost, high density signaling, advanced routing, IP
migration, gateway capabilities, SIP bridging, and core-to-edge distributed intelligence. In January 2011, PT

expanded its signaling product portfolio with the acquisition of GENBAND s Universal Signaling Platform ( USP ) and
SP2000 signaling technology. The Company s Xpress SIP-based applications enable evolving Mobile 2.0,
Multi-media, and IMS-based revenue generating services.

PT s business addresses one industry segment Communications, and globally targets two primary vertical markets for
its network communications products: telecommunications, and military, aerospace and government systems. The
telecommunications market, historically our largest vertical market, is fundamentally driven by investments in

network infrastructure by carriers and service providers. Telecommunications market revenues derived from our
IPnexus Application-Ready Systems products, which are sold to OEMs, depend primarily on broad, multi-year
deployments of next-generation telecommunications infrastructure.

23

There can be no assurance that future component supplies will be adequate for the Company s needs od®ill be av



Edgar Filing: PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES INC \DE\ - Form 10-K

For 2010, the new norm in our OEM business appears to be that OEM customers place orders for product only when
they have orders in hand from their customers and expect almost immediate delivery. Telecommunications market
revenues generated from end user solutions, such as our SEGway and Xpress product lines, result from investments
necessary to support existing and evolving service demands such as text messaging and the transition to Internet-based
communications networks. During 2010, the economy recovered unevenly around the world and business conditions
continued to remain very challenging in the telecommunications equipment market. Sales into the military, aerospace
and government systems market are typically to prime contractors and system integrators that reflect investment levels
by various government agencies and military branches in specific programs and projects requiring enhanced
communications capabilities. The opportunity for government funded network infrastructure and military related
expenditures remains positive but the timing of awarded business for the most part is highly unpredictable. Our
Xpress product line is generating interest from both telecommunications and government customers. During the third
quarter 2010, PT began a pilot program with a government customer to demonstrate the Xpress products capabilities
in a communications cost reduction program. Forward-looking visibility on customer orders continues to be at record
low levels.

Please refer to Part 1, Item 1, under the caption Business, for further discussion of the industry, markets and economic
environment.

Strategy

The Company strategy is to maximize the value proposition of its products by leveraging its field-proven systems,
software and hardware technologies. Management believes the tightly integrated combination of these technologies
results in considerable benefits to its customers including a compelling return-on-investment proposition, significant
development risk mitigation and a substantially accelerated time-to-market opportunity.

Early in 2009, management outlined a multi-year strategic plan for the Company. This plan encompassed four
specific initiatives to construct a solid foundation for long-term growth. These initiatives include further
strengthening our SEGway Signaling Systems product line, continued evolution and enhancement of our IPnexus
Application-Ready Systems for mission critical communications applications, intensifying our market diversification
efforts in government systems and defense markets, and identifying forward-looking network communications growth
opportunities, such as our Xpress product portfolio of SIP-based applications and enabling infrastructure, that we can
pursue with our own end product solutions.

In the fourth quarter 2009, management proactively undertook several new investments to further position PT for
growth as business conditions improve. The timing of this decision was based upon forward-looking market data that
we expected would drive opportunities for our technologies. At a high level, a sampling of these market indicators
included: forecasted mobile handset growth in 2010, wireless growth opportunities in emerging markets and
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increasing government-driven communications infrastructure expenditures. These investments included hiring
additional direct sales people to bolster our sales organization, the addition of several positions to our research and
development team and the expansion of our product management team. Management strongly believed these
investments were needed to further position PT for growth as business conditions improve.

During the second half of 2010, it became apparent that the economic and industry trends that occurred did not drive
growth for PT s products to the degree expected. Therefore, in December 2010, PT announced an expense reduction
program to substantially reduce its operating expenses while retaining the resources necessary to meet our ongoing
customer commitments, continue to strengthen our product offerings and continue to deliver excellence in customer
support. Management believes that while it was necessary to make these reductions for financial reasons, the
significant strategic investments made during 2010 were important in underpinning a solid foundation for long-term
future growth. Further expense reductions may be necessary in 2011 if PT s revenue does not increase as expected.

There are significant risks associated with PT s strategy in the current economic climate. While management believes
that its network communications market focus offers opportunities for growth in the long term, network infrastructure
investments by carriers are very sluggish, the market for certain signaling products is declining and the market for
SIP-based products is not growing rapidly enough to offset these declines. Based on the current economic
environment, which may involve new risks not currently identifiable, management believes that realizing meaningful
profitability in the near term is likely to be very difficult.
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Please refer to Part 1, Item 1, under the caption Business, for further information regarding the Company s Strategy.

Financial Overview

Revenue:

Revenue for 2010 amounted to $27.9 million, compared to $29.5 million in 2009. Due to the global economic
recession, PT has experienced weak demand for its products from its telecommunications customers as end-users
continue to restrict capital expenditure budgets. Shipments to PT s two traditionally largest customers, Metaswitch
Networks and Alcatel-Lucent, increased $1.4 million in 2010 over 2009, to $8.0 million. This $1.4 million increase
includes a $2.4 million increase in sales to Metaswitch Networks and a $1.0 million decrease in sales to
Alcatel-Lucent.

Shipments to customers outside of the United States represented 58% and 53% of sales in 2010 and 2009,
respectively. The increase in shipments to customers outside of the United States was principally due to a rebound in
shipments to Metaswitch Networks and revenue from the Company s first SEGway signaling sales to
telecommunications carriers in Africa. Shipments to customers in the United States declined by $2.1 million, due
primarily to a decrease in sales to Alcatel-Lucent and lower sales of signaling products. Shipments to the United
Kingdom represented 26% and 15% of PT s total sales in 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Earnings:

PT incurred a net loss in 2010 amounting to ($11.2 million), or ($1.01) per basic share, based on 11.1 million shares
outstanding. This loss included:

e Restructuring charges of $.11 per share;

e Write-offs of software development costs of $.05 per share;
e Stock-based compensation expense of $.04 per share; and

e Discrete income tax provision items totaling $.02 per share.
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PT incurred a net loss for 2009 amounting to ($10.1 million), or ($.91) per basic share, based on 11.1 million shares
outstanding. This loss included:

¢ A non-cash goodwill and long-lived asset impairment charge of $.33 per share;

¢ A non-cash income tax charge against deferred tax assets amounting to $.30 per share;
e Restructuring charges of $.06 per share;

e Discrete income tax benefits of $.06 per share; and

e Stock-based compensation expense of $.05 per share.
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Cash, cash equivalents and investments amounted to $19.2 million and $29.3 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively, and the Company had no long-term debt at either date. The decrease in cash in 2010 was due primarily
to cash used in operations of $6.5 million, capitalized software development costs of $2.3 million, signaling
technology acquisitions of $.2 million, and purchases of property, equipment and improvements of $1.2 million.

Cash used by operating activities amounted to $6.5 million and $.2 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. The 2010
amount included net loss of ($11.2 million), offset by non-cash charges including depreciation, amortization,
write-offs and impairments totaling $3.6 million and stock-based compensation expense of $.4 million. In addition,
inventories increased by $3.3 million, offset substantially by a $1.0 million decrease in accounts receivable and a $2.4
million increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses. The decrease in accounts receivable was principally due
to lower fourth quarter sales in 2010, compared to 2009. The increase in inventory is primarily attributable to
transitioning the Company s printed circuit board manufacturing operations to a contract manufacturer, end-of-life
product builds completed prior to that transition and the non-achievement of forecasted sales volumes and
corresponding inventory build required to meet those forecasted volumes. Accounts payable and accrued expenses
increased primarily due to the inventory build and corresponding significant amounts owing to the Company s contract
manufacturer. The longer lead times of a contract manufacturing model are necessitating a build-up of semi-finished
goods inventory in order to meet forecasted customer demand. As a result, the Company expects there will be an
additional increase in inventory during the first quarter 2011.

Restructuring Activities:

PT implemented two restructuring actions during 2010. In December 2009, PT announced its decision to outsource
the manufacturing of the printed circuit board assembly for PT s hardware products. In connection with this decision,
the Company reduced its Rochester workforce by fourteen employees. Total restructuring charges associated with this
action were $.3 million in 2010, of which $.2 million required an outlay of cash during 2010.

In December 2010, the Company announced its plan to implement a strategic reduction of its existing workforce in
response to the continuing challenges of the global economic environment. This program, which is projected to be
completed by the end of the first quarter 2011, is expected to reduce operating expenses by approximately $4.0
million to $4.5 million on an annualized run rate basis. It includes closing the San Luis Obispo California engineering
facility and the elimination of approximately 22 positions which represents 12% of the Company s workforce. The
Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $0.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2010 and expects to record a pre-tax
charge of $.1 million during 2011 for severance and other costs related to this program. These costs are expected to
require an outlay of cash of $.9 million and $.2 million during the first and second quarters of 2011, respectively.
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PT implemented two restructuring actions during 2009. In January 2009, the Company implemented a strategic
reduction of its existing workforce in response to the challenging global economic environment. As a result of this
action, the Company eliminated twenty positions in the first quarter 2009, or approximately 8% of its global
workforce. In the first quarter, PT recorded restructuring charges for cash expenditures associated with
employee-related costs of approximately $.4 million. In July 2009, the Company implemented a voluntary separation
program in which substantially all U.S. employees were offered the opportunity to elect termination of employment,
subject to the Company s approval. Eight employees were voluntarily terminated under this program. In the third
quarter, PT recorded restructuring charges for cash expenditures associated with employee-related costs of
approximately $.2 million.

26

There can be no assurance that future component supplies will be adequate for the Company s needs orB&ill be av



Edgar Filing: PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES INC \DE\ - Form 10-K

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the years indicated, certain consolidated financial data expressed as a percentage of
sales, which has been included as an aid to understanding PT s results and should be read in conjunction with the
Selected Financial Data and Consolidated Financial Statements (including the notes thereto) appearing elsewhere in
this report.

Year Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008

Sales 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Cost of goods sold 55.7 % 46.8 % 43.7 %
Software capitalization write-off 21 % 0.2 %
Gross profit 42.2 % 532 % 56.1 %
Operating expenses:
Selling and marketing 29.7 % 243 % 20.4 %
Research and development 28.0 % 26.4 % 223 %
General and administrative 20.9 % 15.7 % 11.7 %
Restructuring charges 4.2 % 2.1 %
lirrrllg:aliirvnelgr;tszleqzrges of goodwill and 145 %
Unsuccessful acquisition expenses 0.5 %

Total operating expenses 82.8 % 83.0 % 54.9 %
(Loss) income from operations (40.6 %) (29.8 %) 1.2 %
Other income, net 1.2 % 1.5 % 2.4 %
(Loss) income before income taxes (39.4 %) (28.3 %) 3.6 %
Income tax provision (benefit) 0.6 % 6.0 % (0.5 %)

Net (loss) income (40.0 %) (34.3 %) 4.1 %

Year Ended December 31, 2010 compared with the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Sales. Total revenue for 2010 amounted to $27.9 million, compared to $29.5 million for 2009. Historically, PT s
products have been grouped into three distinct categories in one market segment: Communications products,
Computing products and Switching products. However, we are no longer reporting revenue based on these product
lines as such presentation is no longer meaningful in the context of how management views our business. Rather,
management is focused on selling PT s products into two primary vertical markets within one segment,
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communications. Revenue from each product category is expressed as a percentage of sales for the periods indicated:

2010 2009
Telecommunications 81 % 82 %
Military, aerospace and government systems 19 % 18 %
Total 100 % 100 %
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Telecommunications products:

Telecommunications products are comprised of IPnexus Application-Ready Systems, SEGway signaling systems and
Xpress products. PT s IPnexus Application-Ready Systems are designed for high availability, scalability, and long life
cycle deployments and are sold to telecommunication equipment manufacturers. The Company s SEGway signaling
products, which are built on our [Pnexus systems, provide a full suite of signaling solutions that seamlessly bridge
between circuit-switched networks and growing IP-based networks. PT s Xpress products are a portfolio of SIP-based
applications and enabling infrastructure for next-generation network (NGN) architectures.

Revenue from telecommunications products amounted to $22.6 million and $24.2 million in 2010 and 2009,
respectively. This decrease in revenue of $1.6 million, or 7%, reflects the impact of the economy on the
telecommunications industry, partially offset by a rebound in sales to the Company s largest customer, Metaswitch
Networks, as Metaswitch sales increased $2.4 million year-over-year.

Military, aerospace and government products:

Our recently realigned Government Systems group continues to work with numerous prime contractors to incorporate
PT's COTS-based, application-ready systems into specific programs and projects requiring enhanced communications
capabilities. Revenue from military, aerospace and government system products was essentially unchanged in 2010
over 2009. PT had significant sales to Raytheon, the Company s second largest customer in 2010, as well as the FAA
and the U.S. military in 2010.

Gross profit. Gross profit consists of sales, less cost of goods sold including material costs, manufacturing expenses,
depreciation, amortization of software development costs, and expenses associated with engineering contracts and the
technical support function, and totaled $11.8 million and $15.7 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. Gross margin
was 42.2% and 53.2% of sales for 2010 and 2009, respectively. Of this 11% decrease, 2.2% resulted from charges
totaling $.6 million to write off or write down to estimated net realizable value software development costs which

were capitalized for new products which either had not reached commercial general release and were discontinued, or
which have been released but for which the revenue is not expected to be sufficient to absorb the project s unamortized
cost. In addition, the significant decline in gross margin as a percentage of sales in 2010 resulted from a less favorable
product sales mix, the non-absorption of fixed manufacturing costs, which resulted from significantly lower sales and
production volumes, and redundant costs resulting from the transition of the Company s printed circuit board assembly
operation to a contract manufacturer. Also included in cost of goods sold is the amortization of software development
costs which totaled $2.1 million and $1.7 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively, excluding the $.6 million of 2010
charges for the write down of capitalized software development projects discussed above.
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Total Operating Expenses. Total operating expenses in 2010 amounted to $23.1 million including restructuring
expenses of $1.2 million, and stock compensation expense of $.4 million. Total operating expenses in 2009 amounted
to $24.5 million including impairment charges recorded against goodwill and long-lived assets which totaled $4.3
million, restructuring expenses of $.6 million, and stock compensation expense of $.5 million.

Selling and marketing expenses were $8.3 million and $7.2 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. This increase of
$1.1 million, or 15%, was primarily the result of hiring additional sales and marketing personnel, engaging
independent sales representatives, increased trade show spending, higher expenses associated with the foreign
currency exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the British pound and Canadian dollar, offset partially by lower
commissions.
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Research and development expenses amounted to $7.8 million in both 2010 and 2009. The Company capitalizes
certain software development costs, which reduces the amount charged to research and development expenses.
Amounts capitalized were $2.3 million in both 2010 and 2009. Gross research and development expenditures were
$10.1 million in both 2010 and 2009. 2010 benefited as a result of the full effect of 2009 workforce reductions, offset
by higher expenses associated with the foreign currency exchange rate between the United States dollar and Canadian
dollar in 2010 compared to 2009, and a $.1 million reduction in the savings realized from the Company s Canadian
dollar hedging strategy.

General and administrative expenses totaled $5.8 million and $4.6 million for 2010 and 2009, respectively. The
increase in expenses was primarily related to significantly higher legal expenses associated with the Company s
defense of intellectual property litigation instituted by one of the Company s competitors.

Restructuring charges amounted to $1.2 million and $.6 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. In 2010, the
Company recorded restructuring charges related to two programs. In December 2009, the Company announced its
decision to outsource its printed circuit board assembly operation to a contract manufacturer. This action resulted in
the elimination of fourteen positions during 2010, for which a restructuring charge of $.3 million was recorded. In
December 2010, the Company announced a reduction in force, which will be substantially completed during the first
quarter of 2011. A restructuring charge of $.9 million was recorded in 2010 in connection with this action.

Restructuring charges amounted to $.6 million in 2009 and relate to two reductions in force that management initiated
during the year. In January 2009, twenty positions were eliminated in an involuntary reduction in force, while in
August 2009, eight positions were eliminated in a voluntary reduction in force. Both of these actions were completed
in 20009.

A summary of the activity with respect to the 2010 and 2009 restructuring activity is as follows (amounts in millions):

Number Lease
of Severance commitments
employees Reserve and other Total
Balance at January 1, 2009 - $ - $ - $ -
2009 restructuring charges 28 .6 - .6
2009 utilization 28) (.6) - (.6)
Balance at December 31, 2009 - - - -
2010 restructuring charges 35 1.1 1 1.2
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2010 utilization (13) (2) (1) (3)
Balance at December 31, 2010 22 $ .9 $ - $ .9

All utilization amounts except $.1 million in 2010 represent cash payments.

Carrying Value of Goodwill and Long-lived Assets. Due to the Company s decreased stock price during the second
half of 2009 and resulting lower market capitalization, particularly in comparison with the 2009 recovery in United
States equity markets, management recorded an impairment charge amounting to $4.14 million against the full
recorded value of goodwill based on the Company s assessment at December 31, 2009. In conjunction with the review
for impairment of goodwill at December 31, 2009, PT also performed a review of the recoverability of its other
long-lived assets. As a result, PT recorded a non-cash impairment charge against the carrying value of property,
equipment and improvements amounting to $.14 million.
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Other Income, net. Other income consists primarily of interest income and totaled $.3 million in 2010, compared to
$.4 million in 2009. This decrease was due to depressed yields the Company is earning on its investments and lower
average cash and investment balances in 2010 than in 2009. As of December 31, 2010, the Company s funds are
primarily invested in government-backed money market funds, certificates of deposit, government or
government-backed bonds of short duration and high-quality corporate bonds of short duration.

Income taxes. The effective income tax rate is a combination of federal, state and foreign tax rates and is generally
lower than statutory rates because it includes benefits derived from tax credits related to research and development
activities in the United States and Canada, and tax-exempt interest income.

For 2010, the income tax provision amounted to $.2 million and includes the effect of a discrete foreign deferred tax
provision of $.1 million resulting from the Company reverting to a partial assertion that the earnings in its Canadian
subsidiary will be indefinitely reinvested. The 2010 provision also includes a discrete income tax provision of $.1
million which was recorded due to the income tax benefit which resulted from the decrease in unrealized gain on
foreign currency hedge contracts during 2010, and state and foreign taxes, offset by refundable U.S. federal and
Province of Ontario credits. For 2009, the income tax provision amounted to $1.8 million, which included state and
foreign taxes of $.1 million and a valuation allowance recorded against the balance of the Company s United States
deferred tax assets in the amount of $2.9 million, offset by discrete income tax benefits of $.3 million, the recognition
of a deferred tax asset relating to a United States tax law change in November 2009 of $.4 million, and the reversal of
the deferred tax liability relating to the Company s full impairment of goodwill which amounted to $.5 million.

Stock compensation expense. Cost of goods sold and operating expenses include stock compensation expense which
totaled $.4 million, $.5 million and $.6 million in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.

Year Ended December 31, 2009 compared with the Year Ended December 31, 2008

Sales. Total revenue for 2009 amounted to $29.5 million, compared to $40.5 million for 2008. Historically, PT s
products have been grouped into three distinct categories in one market segment: Communications products,
Computing products and Switching products. However, we are no longer reporting revenue based on these product
lines as such presentation is no longer meaningful in the context of how management views our business. Rather,
management is focused on selling PT s products into two primary vertical markets within one segment,
communications. Revenue from each product category is expressed as a percentage of sales for the periods indicated:

2009 2008
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Telecommunications 82 % 88 %
Military, aerospace and government systems 18 % 12 %
Total 100 % 100 %

Telecommunications products:

Revenue from Telecommunications products amounted to $24.2 million and $35.6 million in 2009 and 2008,
respectively. This decrease in revenue of $11.4 million, or 32%, reflected pervasive soft product demand resulting
from the global economic recession, as PT experienced decreases in each product line. Sales of computing products to
Metaswitch Networks declined $2.5 million, while sales to Alcatel-Lucent declined $2.2 million. Also contributing to
the decrease in telecommunications sales were significant decreases in network access products. The only product
line that did not experience a significant sales decline was in SEGway signaling products.
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Military, aerospace and government systems products:

Sales of military, aerospace and government systems products increased by $.4 million, or 8%, from $4.9 million in
2008 to $5.3 million in 2009. As a percentage of total sales, however, this product line increased from 12% to 18%.
Significant shipments to Raytheon, a prime government contractor, were the most significant factor driving the sales
increase.

Gross profit. Gross profit consists of sales, less cost of goods sold including material costs, manufacturing expenses,
depreciation, amortization of software development costs, and expenses associated with engineering contracts and the
technical support function, and totaled $15.7 million and $22.8 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Gross margin
was 53.2% and 56.1% of sales for 2009 and 2008, respectively. Despite improved product mix, gross margin as a
percentage of sales fell in 2009 due primarily to the non-absorption of fixed manufacturing costs, which resulted from
significantly lower sales and production volumes. Also included in cost of goods sold is the amortization of software
development costs which totaled $1.7 million and $1.6 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. In 2008, charges
amounting to $.1 million were recorded to write off certain software development costs relating to new products
which had not reached commercial general release and were discontinued.

Total Operating Expenses.Total operating expenses in 2009 amounted to $24.5 million including impairment charges
recorded against goodwill and long-lived assets which totaled $4.3 million, restructuring expenses of $.6 million, and
stock compensation expense of $.5 million. Total operating expenses in 2008 amounted to $22.3 million including
expenses associated with an unsuccessful acquisition of $.2 million and stock compensation expense amounting to $.6
million.

Selling and marketing expenses were $7.2 million and $8.3 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. This decrease of
$1.1 million, or 13%, was primarily the result of the reduction in force of two salaried employees, lower commissions,
reduced travel expenses, and carefully controlled discretionary expenditures.

Research and development expenses amounted to $7.8 million and $9.0 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively: The
Company capitalizes certain software development costs, which reduces the amount charged to research and
development expenses. Amounts capitalized were $2.3 million and $2.1 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Gross research and development expenditures decreased $1.1 million, or 10% in 2009, which was primarily
attributable to both workforce reductions in 2009, controlled discretionary expenditures, and the 2009 effect of the
Company s hedging of the Canadian dollar at a more favorable rate than the average exchange rate in 2008.
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General and administrative expenses totaled $4.6 million and $5.0 million for 2009 and 2008, respectively. The
decrease in expenses was primarily related to lower corporate, legal and audit costs, and the elimination of two
administrative positions. In addition, in 2008 PT incurred $.2 million of legal, investment banking, and due diligence
costs associated with an unsuccessful acquisition. These costs were charged to expense when negotiations for the
acquisition were ended.

Restructuring charges amounted to $.6 million in 2009 and relate to two reductions in force that management initiated
during 2009. In January 2009, twenty positions were eliminated in an involuntary reduction in force, while in August

2009, eight positions were eliminated in a voluntary reduction in force. Both of these actions were completed in
2009.

A summary of the activity with respect to the 2009 and 2008 restructuring activity is as follows (amounts in millions):
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Number Lease
of Severance commitments
employees Reserve and other Total
Balance at January 1, 2008 - $ - $ 5 $ 3
2008 utilization - - (.5) (.5)
Balance at December 31, 2008 - - - -
2009 restructuring charges 28 .6 - .6
2009 utilization (28) (.6) - (.6)
Balance at December 31, 2009 - $ - $ - $ -

All utilization amounts in 2009 and 2008 represent cash payments.

Carrying Value of Goodwill and Long-lived Assets. Goodwill represented the excess of cost over the fair value of net
assets acquired in business combinations. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually as of December 315t
of each fiscal year or when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of the goodwill might
exceed the fair value. Management has determined that the Company has one reporting unit for purposes of applying
the impairment testing rules based on its reporting structure. The fair value of the Company's single reporting unit at
each measurement date is determined based on a combination of the fair market value of the Company's outstanding
common stock on a control basis, a discounted cash flow valuation model applied to a projection of future cash flows.

Management performed an interim assessment of the carrying value of goodwill as of June 30, 2009 due to the low
price of the Company s stock in relation to its book value per share and due to the second quarter decision to record a
valuation charge against the Company s deferred tax assets. Based on that assessment, management determined that
the fair value of the Company was in excess of its book value including goodwill, and therefore it was not necessary
to record impairment at that date.

The results of the annual impairment tests performed as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 indicated the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeded its carrying value. Due to the Company s decreased stock price during the second half of
2009 and resulting lower market capitalization, particularly in comparison with the 2009 recovery in United States
equity markets, management recorded an impairment charge amounting to $4.14 million against the full recorded
value of goodwill based on the Company s assessment at December 31, 2009.

In conjunction with the review for impairment of goodwill at December 31, 2009, PT also performed a review of the
recoverability of its other long-lived assets. As a result, PT recorded a non-cash impairment charge against the
carrying value of property, equipment and improvements amounting to $.14 million.
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Other Income, net. Other income consists primarily of interest income and totaled $.4 million in 2009, compared to
$1.0 million in 2008. This decrease was due to a sharp decline in the yields the Company earned on its investments,
resulting from lower interest rates in general and the Company s decision to invest in lower-risk investment securities.
As of December 31, 2009, the Company s funds are primarily invested in government-backed money market funds,
certificates of deposit, government or government-backed bonds of short duration and high-quality corporate bonds of
short duration. At December 31, 2008, the Company owned one auction rate municipal security for which the
periodic auctions had failed since February 2008. In November 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with
the brokerage firm that sold this investment to the Company. This agreement provided the Company a put option
which, if exercised, required the brokerage firm to purchase the investment from the Company at its par value of
$2.45 million. The Company exercised this option and the brokerage firm purchased this investment from the
Company at its full par value in January 2009.
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Income taxes. The effective income tax rate is a combination of federal, state and foreign tax rates and is generally
lower than statutory rates because it includes benefits derived from tax credits related to research and development
activities in the United States and Canada, and tax-exempt interest income.

For 2009, the income tax provision amounted to $1.8 million, which included state and foreign taxes of $.1 million
and a valuation allowance recorded against the balance of the Company's United States deferred tax assets in the
amount of $2.9 million, offset by discrete income tax benefits of $.3 million, the recognition of a deferred tax asset
relating to a United States tax law change in November 2009 of $.4 million, and the reversal of the deferred tax
liability relating to the Company's full impairment of goodwill which amounted to $.5 million.

For 2008, the income tax benefit amounted to $.2 million, which included income tax benefits of $.3 million for the
aforementioned credits, a discrete income tax benefit of $.4 million relating to the release of a reserve for income tax
uncertainties, offset partially by the income tax on the Company s pre-tax income at statutory rates.

Stock compensation expense. Cost of goods sold and operating expenses include stock compensation expense which
totaled $.5 million, $.6 million and $.7 million in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.

During 2007, stock options to purchase 127,500 shares of common stock were granted that were to vest only upon the
attainment of an earnings-per-share target of $.40 in 2007, 2008 or 2009. During the fourth quarter 2008,
management determined that attainment of the stated per-share earnings target was not probable. As such, the
previously recorded expense relating to this option grant in the amount of $139,000 was reversed during the fourth
quarter 2008.

Similarly, during 2008, stock options to purchase 137,500 shares of common stock were granted that were to vest only
upon the attainment of a pre-tax earnings-per-share target of $.69 in 2008, 2009 or 2010. During the first quarter
2009, management determined that the attainment of this target was not probable in either 2009 or 2010 and reversed
the previously recorded expense relating to this option grant, which has totaled $44,000.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2010, our primary sources of liquidity are cash, cash equivalents and investments. Together, cash,
cash equivalents and investments totaled $19.2 million and $29.3 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. The Company had working capital of $23.2 million and $32.3 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009,
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respectively. The decrease in working capital amounted to $9.1 million and is due primarily to the use of cash to fund
the Company s operating loss. The decrease in cash, cash equivalents and investments amounted to $10.1 million and
is primarily the result of the Company s operating loss less non-cash depreciation, amortization, write-off s and
impairments plus capitalized software development costs of $2.3 million, a technology acquisition of $.2 million,
property, equipment and improvement of $1.2 million, and an increase in inventories amounting to $3.3 million, less
accounts payable and accrued expenses, which increased $2.4 million and tax refunds received totaling $.4 million.

Cash used by operating activities amounted to $6.5 million and $.2 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. The 2010
amount included net loss of ($11.2 million), offset by non-cash charges including depreciation, amortization,
write-offs and impairments totaling $3.6 million and stock-based compensation expense of $.4 million. In addition,
inventories increased by $3.3 million, offset substantially by a $1.0 million decrease in accounts receivable and a $2.4
million increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses. The decrease in accounts receivable was principally due
to lower fourth quarter sales in 2010, compared to 2009. The increase in inventory is primarily attributable to
transitioning the Company s printed circuit board manufacturing operations to a contract manufacturer; end-of-life
product builds completed prior to that transition and the non-achievement of forecasted sales volumes and
corresponding inventory build required to meet those forecasted volumes. Accounts payable and accrued expenses
increased primarily due to the inventory build and corresponding significant amounts owing to the Company s contract
manufacturer. The longer lead times of a contract manufacturing model are necessitating a build-up of semi-finished
goods inventory in order to meet forecasted customer demand. As a result, the Company expects there will be an
additional increase in inventory during the first quarter 2011.
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The Company has taken measures, and continues to consider options, to address the significant negative cash flow
from operations. The Company implemented a restructuring program in the fourth quarter 2010 which is expected to
be completed in the first quarter 2011, and the Company expects revenue to increase during 2011. In the event that
the expected revenue increases do not materialize, further expense reductions will be necessary.

Cash provided by investing activities during 2010 amounted to $1.8 million, compared to cash used by investing
activities during 2009 which amounted to $11.2 million. Cash provided by investing activities resulted primarily from
net sales of investments which amounted to $5.3 million, offset partially by capitalized software development costs of
$2.3 million and capital and technology asset purchases totaling $1.3 million. Cash used by investing activities in
2009 consisted of the acquisition of software technologies of $.9 million, capitalized software development costs of
$2.3 million, capital asset purchases of $.5 million and a net purchase of investments of $7.6 million, as the Company
moved monies from money market funds into certificates of deposit and short-maturity bonds.

Cash used by financing activities for 2009 amounted to $.3 million, resulting from the Company s repurchase of
common stock.

In January 2011, PT entered into a long-term agreement with GENBAND under which PT acquired software,
equipment, inventories, and intellectual property including a signaling-related patent, a license under GENBAND's
signaling patent portfolio and an assignment in part of signaling technology from GENBAND. In connection with
this agreement, PT will provide GENBAND with development, support and maintenance of signaling solutions as
integral elements of GENBAND s premier switching portfolio. The total consideration for these assets is $5,000,000,
of which $4,000,000 was paid at closing in January 2011 and $1,000,000 is due in January 2012.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements:

The Company had no off-balance sheet arrangements during 2010.

Contractual Obligations:

The Company leases facilities under operating leases. Under the terms of the facility lease in Rochester, New York,
which expires in March 2012, the Company pays annual rent which amounts to $783,000, with pre-established
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adjustments each year.

The Company leases a facility in San Luis Obispo, California under a two-year lease which expires in August 2012.
Rent payments under this lease amount to approximately $130,000 annually. The Company has given notice to the
San Luis Obispo facility landlord that, effective as of April 30, 2011, the Company is exercising its right to terminate
the lease agreement and abandon the premises.

The Company leases office space in Kanata, Ontario, Canada. The term of this lease extends through October 2011.
Rent payments under this lease, including payments of minimum operating costs, amount to $329,000CDN annually
(approximately $331,000USD at December 31, 2010), with annual inflationary adjustments.

The Company leases office space near London, England. The terms of this lease extend through March 2012 and
require quarterly lease payments which amount to £28,000 annually (approximately $44,000USD at December 31,
2010).

For the lease agreements described above, the Company is also required to pay the pro rata share of the real property
taxes and assessments, expenses and other charges associated with these facilities.
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The Company enters into purchase commitments during the normal course of its operations. Certain of these purchase
commitments are non-cancelable. As of December 31, 2010, the Company s non-cancelable purchase commitments
expire through December 31, 2011. Included in the table below is the total of non-cancelable purchase commitments
outstanding as of December 31, 2010.

Future minimum payments for non-cancelable operating leases having a remaining term in excess of one year and
outstanding non-cancelable purchase commitments at December 31, 2010 are as follows:

Payments Due by Period
(in thousands)
2012
through

Contractual Obligations Total 2011 2014
Operating leases $ 1,665 $ 1,289 $ 376
Purchase commitments 182 182 -
Total $ 1,847 $ 1,471 $ 376

The Company is not a party to any other significant contractual obligations.

Due to uncertainties regarding whether, and when, the Company s tax returns may be examined by the applicable
taxing authorities, and the uncertain possible outcomes of such examinations, if any, an estimate of the timing of
payments related to uncertain tax positions and related interest cannot be made. See Note M, Income Taxes, in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the Company s uncertain tax
positions.

Current Position:

Management has initiated certain actions to align expenses with projected revenue levels. Management believes that
the Company s current cash, cash equivalents and investments will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash
requirements, including working capital and capital expenditure requirements, for at least the next twelve months.
However, if higher projected revenue levels do not occur, expenses will need to be reduced further. Furthermore,
management is continuing to evaluate strategic acquisitions to accelerate the Company s growth and market
penetration efforts. These strategic acquisition efforts could have an impact on our working capital, liquidity or
capital resources.
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In addition, as noted in Note P to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company continues to defend its

interests in an intellectual property lawsuit initiated by Tekelec, a California corporation headquartered in Morrisville,
North Carolina. Tekelec s complaint alleges that certain of the Company s signaling systems products infringe six of
Tekelec s issued patents and seeks a determination of infringement, a preliminary and permanent injunction from
further infringement and an unspecified amount of damages. Discovery has commenced in this matter. The Company
believes that the basis for Tekelec s infringement claims is without merit and will vigorously defend against those
claims.

No liability has been recorded relating to this matter because of the uncertainty of its eventual outcome and the
inability to estimate the amount of damages that may be assessed, if any. If the Company were unsuccessful in its
defense, this matter could have a material impact on our working capital, liquidity, capital resources, and results of
operations. In addition, the Company is prepared to commit substantial resources if necessary in order to present a
vigorous defense in this matter.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on revenue recognition that will become effective for the
Company on January 1, 2011, as the Company chose not to early adopt this guidance. Under the new guidance on
arrangements that include software elements, tangible products that have software components (referred to as

software-enabled devices ) that are essential to the functionality of the tangible product will no longer be within the
scope of the software revenue recognition guidance, and software-enabled products will now be subject to other
relevant revenue recognition guidance. Additionally, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on revenue
arrangements with multiple deliverables that are outside the scope of the software revenue recognition guidance.
Under the new guidance, when vendor specific objective evidence or third party evidence for deliverables in an
arrangement cannot be determined, a best estimate of the selling price is required to separate deliverables and allocate
arrangement consideration using the relative selling price method. The new guidance includes new disclosure
requirements on how the application of the relative selling price method affects the timing and amount of revenue
recognition. The Company is still assessing the impact, if any, which the adoption of this standard will have on the
Company s revenue recognition.

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ( ASU ) No. 2010-06 Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements.  This standard requires new disclosures for
significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy and requires separate disclosures about
purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements relating to measurements within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The
updated guidance also clarifies existing disclosures regarding the level of disaggregation of assets or liabilities and the
valuation techniques and inputs used to measure fair value. The updated guidance is effective for interim and annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009, with the exception of the new Level 3 activity disclosures,

which are effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2010. The Company

adopted the Level 1 and 2 disclosure requirements in the first quarter 2010, and will adopt the Level 3 requirements in
the first quarter 2011.

ITEM 7A uantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company is exposed to various market risks in the normal course of business, primarily interest rate risk and
changes in the market value of its investments. The Company believes its exposure to such risk is minimal. The
Company s investments are made in accordance with the Company s investment policy and consist primarily of money
market funds, highly-rated corporate and government bonds, and certificates of deposit at December 31, 2010. The
Company is also subject to foreign exchange risk related to its operations in Ottawa, Canada and London, England.

The Company believes that its exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal, as generally all revenues and accounts
receivable are denominated in U.S. dollars. However, the Company s expenses at these locations are denominated in
the local currency and the Company s results of operations are influenced by changes in the exchange rates between

the United States and Canada and the United Kingdom.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Performance Technologies, Incorporated:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Performance Technologies, Incorporated and their subsidiaries at December 31,
2010 and 2009, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In
addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial
statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Rochester, New York

March 31, 2011
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PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
2010
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,796,000
Investments (Note B) 3,753,000
Accounts receivable, net 5,478,000
Inventories 7,787,000
Prepaid expenses and other assets 940,000
Prepaid income taxes 31,000

Fair value of foreign currency hedge
contracts (Note O) 17,000

Deferred taxes (Note L)

Total current assets 30,802,000
Investments (Note B) 2,677,000
Property, equipment and improvements, net 2,162,000
Software development costs, net (Note M) 4,799,000
Deferred taxes (Note L)

Total assets $ 40,440,000

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 2,756,000
Accrued expenses (Note G) 4,865,000
Total current liabilities 7,621,000
Deferred income taxes 51,000

Income taxes payable
Total liabilities 7,672,000

Commitments and contingencies (Notes H and
P)

Stockholders equity:

Preferred stock - $.01 par value:
1,000,000 shares authorized; none issued

Common stock - $.01 par value: 50,000,000
authorized; 13,304,596

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

December 31,

EQUITY

2009

17,563,000
7,533,000
6,542,000
4,459,000

820,000
24,000

201,000
392,000
37,534,000
4,239,000
1,686,000
5,254,000
176,000
48,889,000

1,013,000
4,195,000
5,208,000

65,000
5,273,000
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shares issued; 11,116,397 shares

outstanding 133,000 133,000
Additional paid-in capital 17,042,000 16,596,000
Retained earnings 25,400,000 36,577,000
Accumulated other comprehensive income 11,000 128,000
Treasury stock at cost; 2,188,199 shares held (9,818,000 ) (9,818,000 )

Total stockholders equity 32,768,000 43,616,000
Total liabilities and stockholders
equity $ 40,440,000 $ 48,889,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Sales $
Cost of goods sold

Software capitalization write-off (Note
N)

Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Selling and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Restructuring charges (Note Q)

Impairment of goodwill and
long-lived assets (Note F)

Unsuccessful acquisition expenses
Total operating expenses

(Loss) income from operations

Other income, net
(Loss) income before income taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)

Net (loss) income $

Basic (loss) earnings per share $

Diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of common
shares

used in basic (loss) earnings per
share

Potential common shares

Weighted average number of common
shares

used in diluted earnings per share

2010
27,946,000
15,558,000

604,000
11,784,000

8,301,000
7,823,000
5,824,000
1,176,000

23,124,000
(11,340,000 )

329,000
(11,011,000 )

166,000
(11,177,000 )

(1.01)

11,116,397
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Year Ended December 31,

$

$

2009
29,491,000
13,793,000

15,698,000

7,152,000
7,796,000
4,642,000

626,000

4,278,000

24,494,000
(8,796,000 )

444,000
(8,352,000 )
1,760,000
(10,112,000 )

(.91)

11,129,548

2008
$ 40,517,000
17,689,000

76,000
22,752,000

8,251,000
9,043,000
4,742,000

229,000
22,265,000
487,000

987,000

1,474,000
(189,000 )

$ 1,663,000

$ 0.14
$ 0.14

11,600,931
10,569

11,611,500
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009 AND 2008

Common Stock
Shares Amount
Balance -

January 1,
2008
Comprehensive
income:

2008 net

income

13,304,596 $ 133,000

Unrealized
gain on foreign

currency
hedge
contracts,

net of tax of
$34,000

Total
comprehensive
income

Purchases of
623,880

treasury
shares

Stock
compensation

expense

Exercise of
178,491
options
Balance -

December 31,
2008

Comprehensive
income:

2009 net loss

Unrealized
gain on foreign

13,304,596 133,000

Additional
Paid-in Retained
Capital Earnings

$ 15,483,000 $ 45,231,000

1,663,000
569,000
(205,000 )
16,052,000 46,689,000

(10,112,000 )
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Treasury
Stock

$ (7,951,000) $

(2,342,000 )

793,000

(9,500,000 )

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income Tof
$ 52,89
1,66
73,000 7
1,73
(2,34
56
58
73,000 53,44
(10,11
79
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currency
hedge
contracts,

net of tax of
$39,000
Total

comprehensive (10,05
loss

55,000 5

Purchase of
100,000

treasury
shares

Stock
compensation

expense 544,000 54

Balance -

(318,000 ) 31

December 31,
2009

Comprehensive
income:
2009 net loss (11,177,000 ) (11,17

Decrease in
unrealized gain

13,304,596 133,000 16,596,000 36,577,000 (9,818,000 ) 128,000 43,61

on foreign
currency
hedge
contracts, net
of
tax of $67,000 (117,000 ) (11

Total
comprehensive (11,29
loss

Stock
compensation

expense 446,000 44
Balance -

December 31,

2010 13,304,000 $ 133,000 $ 17,042,000 $ 25,400,000 $ (9,818,000) $ 11,000 $ 32,76

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) income
Non-cash adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense

Impairment of goodwill and
long-lived assets

Non-cash intangible asset write-off
Provision for bad debts
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
Deferred taxes
Changes in operating assets and
liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets

Accounts payable and accrued
expenses

Income taxes payable and prepaid
income taxes

Net cash (used) provided by
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property, equipment and
improvements

Capitalized software development
costs

Acquired technology

Purchases of investments

Proceeds from sales of investments
Proceeds from sale of equipment

Net cash provided (used) by
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
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2010

$ (11,117,000 )

2,959,000
446,000

62,000

604,000
91,000
(75,000 )
191,000

973,000
(3,328,000 )
(120,000 )

2,413,000

423,000

(6,538,000 )

(1,161,000 )

(2,261,000 )

(180,000 )

(5,344,000 )
10,605,000
112,000

1,771,000

Year Ended December 31,
2009
$ (10,112,000 )

2,546,000
544,000

4,278,000

(226,000 )
(58,000 )
2,012,000

361,000
844,000
(24,000 )

(263,000 )

(60,000 )

(158,000 )

(479,0000 )

(2,273,000 )

(928,000 )

(15,479,000 )
7,920,000
60,000

(11,179,000 )

$

2008

1,663,000

2,326,000
569,000

76,000
(4,000 )

7,000

580,000

1,260,000
(520,000 )
120,000

(346,000 )

7,000

5,738,000

(613,000 )

(2,122,000 )

(9,323,000 )
21,700,000

9,642,000
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Purchase of treasury stock
Exercise of stock options

Net cash used by financing

activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash
and cash equivalents (4,767,000 )
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 17,563,000
Cash and cash equivalents at end of
year $ 12,796,000

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
OF CASH FLOW
INFORMATION

Net income taxes refunded $ 475,000
Non-cash financing activity:

Exercise of stock options using
23,030 shares

of common stock $ -

(318,000 )

(318,000 )

(11,655,000 )

29,218,000

17,563,000

224,000

$

$

(2,342,000 )
588,000

(1,754,000 )

13,626,000

15,592,000

29,218,000

724,000

105,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note A - Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company: Performance Technologies, Incorporated ( the Company , PT ) was formed in 1981 under the laws of
the State of Delaware and maintains its corporate offices in Rochester, New York. The Company is a global supplier
of advanced network communications solutions to carrier, government and OEM markets.

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant inter-company transactions have been eliminated.

Foreign Currency Translation: The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of the Company s foreign subsidiaries.
Monetary assets and liabilities are re-measured at year-end exchange rates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are
re-measured at historical rates. Revenues, expenses, gains and losses are re-measured using the rates on which those
elements were recognized during the period.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at year-end and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk: Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to significant
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of bank deposits, investments, and accounts receivable. Investments
consist of high quality, interest bearing financial instruments. Included in cash and cash equivalents at December 31,
2010 are $4.6 million of AAA-rated money market funds and $8.5 million of deposits with one AA- -rated Canadian
bank.

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers' financial condition and maintains an allowance
for uncollectible accounts receivable based upon the expected collectibility of all accounts receivable. As of
December 31, 2010, two customers, Metaswitch Networks and Leap Wireless/Cricket, represented 18% and 14% of
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net accounts receivable, respectively. Substantially all of these accounts receivable have been received in cash
subsequent to December 31, 2010. As of December 31, 2009, two customers, Leap Wireless and Metaswitch
Networks, represented 30% and 17% of net accounts receivable, respectively, which were fully collected in 2010.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: The carrying amounts of the Company's accounts receivable and accounts
payable approximate fair values at December 31, 2010 and 2009, as the maturity of these instruments are short term.
The fair value of investments is discussed in Note B Investments.

Cash Equivalents: The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.

Investments: The Company may classify its investments as available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, or trading.
Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, if any, reported in
accumulated other comprehensive income, a component of stockholders equity. Losses that are judged to be
other-than-temporary, if any, are recorded in net income (loss). Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized
cost. Amortization of purchase premiums or discounts is included in other income, net.
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Inventories: Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
method. The Company records provisions for excess, obsolete or slow moving inventory based on changes in
customer demand, technology developments or other economic factors.

Revenue Recognition: The Company recognizes revenue from product sales in accordance with the SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition. Product sales represent the majority of the Company s revenue
and include hardware products and hardware products with embedded software. The Company recognizes revenue
from these product sales when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have
been provided, the sale price is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Additionally, the
Company sells its products on terms which transfer title and risk of loss at a specified location, typically shipping

point. Accordingly, revenue recognition from product sales occurs when all factors are met, including transfer of title
and risk of loss, which typically occurs upon shipment by the Company. If these conditions are not met, the Company
will defer revenue recognition until such time as these conditions have been satisfied. The Company collects and
remits sales taxes in certain jurisdictions and reports revenue net of any associated sales taxes.

For the sale of multiple-element arrangements whereby equipment is combined with other elements, such as software
and maintenance, the Company allocates to, and recognizes revenue from, the various elements based on their fair
value. Revenue from software requiring significant production, modification, or customization is recognized using the
percentage of completion method of accounting. Anticipated losses on contracts, if any, are charged to operations as
soon as such losses are determined. If all conditions of revenue recognition are not met, the Company defers revenue
recognition and will recognize revenue when the Company has fulfilled its obligations under the arrangement.
Revenue from software maintenance contracts is recognized ratably over the contractual period.

Revenue from consulting and other services is recognized at the time the services are rendered. The Company also
sells certain products through distributors who are granted limited rights of return. Potential returns are accounted for
at the time of sale.

Property, Equipment and Improvements: Property, equipment and improvements are stated at cost. Depreciation
of equipment and improvements is provided for using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful
lives:

Engineering equipment and software 3 -5 years
Manufacturing equipment and tooling 3 -5 years
Furniture and equipment 3 -5 years
Leasehold improvements the lesser of 10 years or the lease term
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Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Asset betterments are capitalized.

Goodwill: Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of net assets acquired in business combinations.
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually as of December 31 of each fiscal year or when events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of the goodwill might exceed the fair value. Management has
determined that the Company has one reporting unit for purposes of applying the impairment testing rules based on its
reporting structure. The fair value of the Company's single reporting unit at each measurement date is determined
based on a weighted average of the fair market value of the Company's outstanding common stock on a control basis
and a discounted cash flow valuation model applied to a projection of future cash flows. Each of these methods was
weighted 50%.

The Company recorded an impairment charge against the full recorded value of goodwill based on the Company s
assessment at December 31, 2009 (See Note F).
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Long-Lived Assets: The Company reviews the carrying values of its long-lived assets (other than goodwill,
capitalized software development costs and purchased intangible assets with indefinite useful lives) for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. The Company
assesses the recoverability of the carrying values of long-lived assets by first grouping its long-lived assets with other
assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of
other assets and liabilities (the asset group) and, secondly, by estimating the undiscounted future cash flows that are
directly associated with, and that are expected to arise from, the use of and eventual disposition of such asset

group. The Company estimates the undiscounted cash flows over the remaining useful life of the primary asset within
the asset group. If the carrying value of the asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted cash flows, the Company
records an impairment charge to the extent the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. The
Company determines fair value through quoted market prices in active markets or, if quoted market prices are
unavailable, through the performance of internal analyses of discounted cash flows. If this review indicates that the
remaining useful life of the long-lived asset has changed significantly, the Company adjusts the depreciation on that
asset to facilitate full cost recovery over its revised estimated remaining useful life.

In conjunction with the review for impairment of goodwill at December 31, 2009, the Company also performed a
review of the recoverability of its other long-lived assets. As a result, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment
charge against the carrying value of property, equipment and improvements (See Note F).

Derivative Financial Instruments: The Company uses derivative financial instruments as foreign currency hedges
of a portion of the costs of its Canadian and United Kingdom operations. The fair value of these derivative
instruments is estimated in accordance with the framework for measuring fair value contained in GAAP and is
recorded as either an asset or liability in the balance sheet based on changes in the current spot rate, as compared to
the exchange rates specified in the contracts. For these instruments, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the
derivative is reported as a component of other comprehensive income and is reclassified into earnings in the same
period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Gains and losses on the derivative
representing either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness are
recognized in current earnings. The fair value measurement of the Company s derivative instruments is estimated
using Level 2 inputs, which are inputs other than quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset
or liability (See Note O).

Research and Development: Research and development costs, excluding amounts capitalized as software
development costs, are expensed as incurred and include employee related costs, occupancy expenses and new
product prototyping costs.

Shipping and Handling Costs and Sales Taxes: Amounts charged to customers and costs incurred by the Company
related to shipping and handling are included in net sales and cost of goods sold, respectively. Revenue is presented
net of any sales taxes collected and remitted by the Company.
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Advertising: Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and recorded in  Selling and marketing in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. Advertising expense amounted to $48,000, $65,000, and $157,000 for 2010, 2009, and
2008, respectively.

Software Development Costs: On a product-by-product basis, software development costs incurred subsequent to
the establishment of technological feasibility and prior to general release of the product are capitalized and amortized
commencing after general release over its estimated remaining economic life, generally three years, using the
straight-line method or using the ratio of current revenues to current and anticipated revenues from such software,
whichever provides greater amortization.
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Income Taxes: The Company provides deferred income tax assets and liabilities based on the estimated future tax
effects of differences between the financial and tax basis of assets and liabilities based on currently enacted tax laws.
A valuation allowance is established for deferred tax assets in amounts for which realization is not considered more
likely than not to occur.

Prior to the fourth quarter 2010, the Company had not provided for federal and state income taxes on the accumulated
earnings of its Canadian subsidiary as it was the Company s intent to indefinitely reinvest such earnings in the
operations of the subsidiary. The Company now believes that it is reasonably possible that a portion of such
accumulated earnings may be repatriated in the foreseeable future. As such, during the fourth quarter 2010, the
Company recorded a deferred tax liability and tax provision of $138,000, calculated based on the amount of earnings
of the Canadian subsidiary that the Company may repatriate, recorded at the federal and state marginal tax rates, less
the amount of net operating losses and tax credit carry-forwards that can be used to offset the federal and state tax.

The Company recognizes and measures uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach. The first step is to evaluate
the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it is more likely than not
that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if
any. In making this assessment, the Company must assume that the taxing authority will examine the income tax
position and have full knowledge of all relevant information. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount which is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company considers
many factors when evaluating and estimating tax positions and tax benefits, which may require periodic adjustments
and which may or may not accurately forecast actual outcomes.

The Company reports interest and penalties accrued relating to uncertain income tax positions as a component of
income tax provision. At December 31, 2009, the liability for uncertain income tax positions was presented as a
non-current liability (income taxes payable) as it could not have been known if, or when, this liability would be
satisfied.

Earnings Per Share: Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding for the period. Due to the net losses in 2010 and 2009, diluted earnings per share are
equal to basic earnings per share. Diluted earnings per share calculations reflect the assumed exercise and conversion
of dilutive employee stock options and unvested restricted stock, applying the treasury stock method. Diluted
earnings per share calculations exclude the effect of approximately 1,663,000, 1,445,000 and 1,446,000 options in
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, since such options have an exercise price in excess of the average market price of
the Company s common stock.

Stock Options and Stock-Based Employee Compensation: In 2001, the stockholders approved the 2001 Stock
Option Plan pursuant to which 1,500,000 shares of common stock were reserved for grant. In 2003, the stockholders
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approved the 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan pursuant to which 1,500,000 shares of common stock were reserved for
future grants. Awards under the 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan may include stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock and other stock performance awards as determined by the Board of Directors. At December 31, 2010,
695,000 shares were available for future grant under these two stock option plans.

Stock options may be granted to any officer or employee at not less than the fair market value at the date of grant (not
less than 110% of the fair market value in the case of holders of more than 10% of the Company's common stock).
Options granted under the plans generally expire between five and ten years from the date of grant and vest in periods
ranging from one to five years.
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The Company recognizes compensation expense in the financial statements for share-based awards based on the
grant-date fair value of those awards. Stock-based compensation expense includes an estimate for pre-vesting
forfeitures and is recognized over the requisite service periods of the awards on a straight-line or graded vesting basis,
which is generally commensurate with the vesting term. Stock-based compensation expense amounted to $446,000,
$544,000 and $569,000 in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The Company may either issue shares or utilize treasury stock shares upon employees stock option exercises. In 2010
and 2009 there were no exercises of stock options and in 2008, the Company utilized only its treasury stock shares for
employee stock option exercises (See Note J).

Please refer to Note J, Stock-based Compensation Expense, for further information.

Segment Data, Geographic Information and Significant Customers and Vendors: The Company is not organized
by market and is managed and operated as one business. A single management team that reports to the chief operating

decision maker comprehensively manages the entire business. The Company does not operate any material separate
lines of business or separate business entities. Accordingly, the Company does not accumulate discrete financial
information, other than product revenue and material costs, with respect to separate product lines and does not have
separately reportable segments.

Shipments to customers outside of the United States represented 58%, 53% and 60% of sales in 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. In 2010, 2009 and 2008, export shipments to the United Kingdom represented 26%, 15% and 18% of
sales, respectively. The Company does not maintain significant amounts of long-lived assets outside of the United
States.

For 2010, 2009, and 2008, four customers accounted for approximately 39%, 36% and 40% of sales respectively. In
2010, one customer, Metaswitch Networks, accounted for 24% of sales. In 2009, two customers, Metaswitch
Networks and Alcatel-Lucent accounted for 15% and 8% of sales, respectively. In 2008, these same two customers
constituted 17% and 11% of sales, respectively. During each of these years, Metaswitch Networks and Alcatel-Lucent
purchased primarily telecommunications products.

As of December 31, 2010, all of the Company s printed circuit board assembly operations are conducted by one
vendor.
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Fair Value Measurements: GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are directly or indirectly
observable for the asset or liability. Such inputs include quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and
liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than
quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, or inputs derived principally from or corroborated by
observable market data by correlation or other means. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability. Such inputs are used to measure fair value when observable inputs are not available.

The Company s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2010, were as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Investments $ 5,190,000 $ 1,240,000 $
Foreign currency hedge contracts - 17,000
Total assets measured at fair value $ 5,190,000 $ 1,257,000 $
47
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Foreign currency hedge contracts are valued based on observable market spot and forward rates as of our reporting
date and are included in Level 2 inputs. We use these derivative instruments to mitigate the effect of changing foreign
currency exchange rates on our expense levels in our Canadian and United Kingdom operations. All contracts are
recorded at fair value and marked to market at the end of each reporting period and realized and unrealized gains and
losses are included in net income for that period.

Contingencies and Related Legal Costs: An accrual of losses related to contingencies is made when, in the opinion
of management and legal counsel, if applicable, the likelihood of loss is deemed probable and the amount of loss is
reasonably estimable. Related legal costs are expensed as incurred (See Note P).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements: In October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on revenue
recognition that will become effective for the Company on January 1, 2011, as the Company chose not to early adopt
this guidance. Under the new guidance on arrangements that include software elements, tangible products that have
software components (referred to as software-enabled devices ) that are essential to the functionality of the tangible
product will no longer be within the scope of the software revenue recognition guidance, and software-enabled
products will now be subject to other relevant revenue recognition guidance. Additionally, the FASB issued
authoritative guidance on revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables that are outside the scope of the software
revenue recognition guidance. Under the new guidance, when vendor specific objective evidence or third party
evidence for deliverables in an arrangement cannot be determined, a best estimate of the selling price is required to
separate deliverables and allocate arrangement consideration using the relative selling price method. The new
guidance includes new disclosure requirements on how the application of the relative selling price method affects the
timing and amount of revenue recognition. The Company is still assessing the impact, if any, which the adoption of
this standard will have on the Company s revenue recognition.

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ( ASU ) No. 2010-06 Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements.  This standard requires new disclosures for
significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy and requires separate disclosures about
purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements relating to measurements within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The
updated guidance also clarifies existing disclosures regarding the level of disaggregation of assets or liabilities and the
valuation techniques and inputs used to measure fair value. The updated guidance is effective for interim and annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009, with the exception of the new Level 3 activity disclosures,

which are effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2010. The Company

adopted the Level 1 and 2 disclosure requirements in the first quarter 2010, and will adopt the Level 3 requirements in
the first quarter 2011.

Note B _Investments
Investments consisted of the following:
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At December 31,
2010

Corporate bonds $ 3,190,000 $
U.S. Government bond 2,000,000
Certificates of deposit 1,240,000
U.S. Government-backed FHLMC bond, at i
amortized cost
Municipal bond, at amortized cost -
Guaranteed investment certificate, at cost -

Total investments $ 6,430,000 $
Less-current investments (3,753,000 )

Non-current investments $ 2,677,000 $
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2009
2,537,000
1,999,000
3,120,000

2,000,000

1,016,000
1,100,000
11,772,000

(7,533,000 )

4,239,000
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All income generated from the Company s investments is recorded in other income, net, and totaled $198,000,

$277,000 and $952,000 in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The Company s bond investments have a cumulative par value of $5,053,000 at December 31, 2010. Three of these
bonds have a cumulative par value of $2,553,000 and mature in 2012, respectively, while the remaining bonds with a
cumulative par value of $2,500,000 mature in 2011 and are classified as current assets.

Prior to December 31, 2010, the Company classified its investments as held-to-maturity and the investments were
stated at amortized cost. As of December 31, 2010, the Company has determined that it is probable that at least some
of its investments may need to be sold prior to maturity in order to fund operations. As such, the Company now

classifies its investments as available-for-sale, and any unrealized gains or losses will be included in accumulated
other comprehensive income. At December 31, 2010, there was an immaterial difference between amortized cost and

fair value of the Company s investments.

Note C - Accounts Receivable, net

Accounts receivable consisted of the following:

Accounts receivable
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts
Net

Note D _Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

Purchased parts and components
Work in process and purchased assemblies
Finished goods

Net
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At December 31,
2010 2009
$ 5,728,000 $ 6,702,000
(250,000 ) (160,000 )

$ 5,478,000 $ 6,542,000

At December 31,

2010 2009

$ 2,040,000 $ 3,045,000
4,639,000 1,041,000
1,108,000 373,000
$ 7,787,000 $ 4,459,000
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Note E _Property, Equipment and
Improvements, net

Property, equipment and improvements consisted of the

following:

Land

Engineering equipment and software
Manufacturing equipment

Furniture and equipment

Leasehold improvements

Less: accumulated depreciation and
amortization

Net

At December 31,

2010
$ 407,000
6,422,000
1,600,000
1,871,000
404,000
10,704,000

(8,542,000 )
2,162,000 $
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$

2009
407,000
5,415,000
2,352,000
1,792,000
391,000
10,357,000

(8,671,000 )
1,686,000
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Total depreciation and amortization expense for equipment and improvements for 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $766,000,
$820,000 and $797,000, respectively.

The net book value of property, equipment and improvements located in the United States was $1,851,000 and
$1,353,000 at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Substantially all of the Company s property, equipment and
improvements outside the United States is located in Canada.

During 2010, the Company disposed of assets with a cost basis of $994,000 and accumulated depreciation of
$957,000 and recorded a gain on disposal of $75,000. During 2009, the Company disposed of assets with a cost basis
of $120,000 and accumulated depreciation of $119,000, and recorded a gain on disposal amounting to $58,000.
During 2008, the Company disposed of assets with a cost basis of $52,000 and accumulated depreciation of $45,000,
and recorded a loss on disposal amounting to $7,000.

Note F _Impairments

Management performed its annual assessment of the carrying value of goodwill as of December 31, 2009. Due to the
Company s decreased stock price during the second half of 2009 and resulting lower market capitalization, particularly
in comparison with the 2009 recovery in United States equity markets, management determined that the fair value of
the Company was no longer in excess of its book value including goodwill, and recorded a non-cash impairment
charge of $4,143,000 (less income taxes of $586,000) against the full recorded value of goodwill as of December 31,
2009.

A summary of the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for each of the two years in the period ended December
31, 2010 is shown below:

Balance, January 1, 2008 $ 4,143,000
Activity 2008 -
Balance, December 31, 2008 4,143,000
Goodwill impairment - 2009 (4,143,000 )

Balance, December 31, 2009 -
Activity - 2010 -
Balance, December 31, 2010 $ -
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In conjunction with its assessment of the carrying value of goodwill as of December 31, 2009, management also
reviewed the carrying values of the Company s other long-lived assets for recoverability (excluding capitalized
software development costs which are amortized and separately reviewed for impairment). As a result of this review,
the Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge against the recorded value of property, equipment and
improvements in the amount of $135,000.

The Company decided in 2009 to outsource manufacturing of the printed circuit board assembly for the hardware
elements of the Company s products. This action was completed during 2010, and certain long-lived manufacturing
assets were identified for sale, which was completed during 2010. As of December 31, 2010, the carrying values of
the remaining assets relating to the printed circuit board assembly operation have been reviewed for recoverability,

and the Company recorded a non-cash impairment against the recorded value of property, equipment and
improvements in the amount of $61,000.
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Note G - Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

At December 31,
2010 2009

Accrued compensation and related costs $ 815,000 $ 684,000
Accrued vacation 487,000 536,000
Accrued professional services 219,000 194,000
Deferred revenue 1,946,000 2,320,000
Accrued warranty obligations 156,000 78,000
Accrued restructuring 924,000 -
Other accrued expenses 318,000 383,000

Total $ 4,865,000 $ 4,195,000

The Company has warranty obligations in connection with the sale of certain of its products. The warranty period for
its products is generally one year. The costs incurred to provide for these warranty obligations are estimated and
recorded as an accrued liability at the time of sale. The Company estimates its future warranty costs based on
product-based historical performance rates and related costs to repair. The changes in the Company s accrued

warranty obligations for 2010, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

Accrued warranty obligations at January 1, 2008 $ 215,000
Actual warranty experience (138,000 )
Net warranty provisions 90,000
Accrued warranty obligations at December 31, 2008 167,000
Actual warranty experience (89,000 )
Net warranty provisions -
Accrued warranty obligations at December 31, 2009 78,000
Actual warranty experience (106,000 )
Net warranty provisions 184,000
Accrued warranty obligations at December 31, 2010 $ 156,000

Note H - Commitments
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The Company leases facilities under operating leases. Under the terms of the facility lease in Rochester, New York,
which expires in March 2012, the Company pays an annual rental of $783,000 with pre-established inflationary
adjustments each year. Under the terms of the facility lease in San Luis Obispo, California, which was extended for
two years during 2010 through August 2012, the Company pays a monthly rental of approximately $11,000; however
the Company may terminate the lease with ninety days notice. The lease for office space in San Diego, California
requires a monthly payment of approximately $7,000, was extended for two years, and expires in November 2013.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company exercised its option to terminate its San Luis Obispo, California lease as of
April 30, 2011, and the hardware research and development activities that were conducted at that facility are being
transitioned to the Company s Rochester, New York facility.
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The Company also leases office space in Kanata, Ontario, Canada. This lease, which requires a monthly rental and
operating expense totaling approximately $33,000CDN (approximately $33,000USD annually based on the December
31, 2010 exchange rate), expires in October 2011. In addition, the Company leases office space near London,
England. This lease requires an annual rental of approximately £28,000 (approximately $44,000 annually based on
the December 31, 2010 exchange rate), and expires in 2012.

For the lease agreements described above, the Company is required to pay the pro rata share of the real property taxes
and assessments, expenses and other charges associated with these facilities.

Future minimum payments for all operating leases at December 31, 2010 are as follows (based on current foreign
currency exchange rates):

2011 $ 913,000
2012 284,000
2013 81,000

Total $ 1,278,000

Rent expense amounted to $1,386,000, $1,340,000 and $1,374,000 for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

During 2010, the Company completed the transition of its printed circuit board assembly operations to a contract
manufacturer. In connection with this transition, the Company has committed to purchasing from the contract
manufacturer any inventory which is purchased to fulfill the Company s requirements, in the event that the Company
revises downward those requirements.

Note I tock Repurchase Program

On July 11, 2005, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase shares of its common stock for an
aggregate amount not to exceed $10,000,000. In July 2007, this program was extended through July 2008, at which
time the program expired. Repurchased shares were to be used for the Company's stock option plans, potential
acquisition initiatives and general corporate purposes. Under this plan, 226,880 shares were repurchased during 2008
for an aggregate purchase price of $1,063,000.
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In October 2008, the Board of Directors authorized a new stock repurchase program, for an aggregate amount not to
exceed $10,000,000. Under this program, which expired in October 2009, repurchased shares were to be used for the
Company s stock option plan, potential acquisition initiatives and general corporate purposes. Under this program,
100,000 shares were repurchased during 2009 for an aggregate purchase price of $318,000 and 397,000 shares were
repurchased during 2008 for an aggregate purchase price of $1,279,000.

Note J _Stock-based Compensation Expense

The table below summarizes the impact of outstanding stock options on the results of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008:
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2010 2009 2008
Stock-based compensation expense:

Stock options $ 446,000 $ 544,000 $ 569,000
Income tax benefit - - (174,000 )
Net decrease in net income $ 446,000 $ 544,000 $ 395,000
Decrease in earnings per share:

Basic $ .04 $ .05 $ .03

Diluted $ .04 $ .05 $ .03

The Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model was used to estimate the fair value of share-based awards. This
model incorporates various and highly subjective assumptions, including expected term and expected volatility. For
valuation purposes, stock option awards were categorized into two groups, stock option grants to employees and stock
option grants to members of the Board of Directors.

Based on employee exercise history, the term of options granted for 2008 through 2010 is estimated as the average of
the vesting term of the options granted. The expected volatility at the grant date is estimated using historical stock
prices based upon the expected term of the options granted. The risk-free interest rate assumption is determined using
the rates for U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bonds with maturities similar to those of the expected term of the award being
valued. Cash dividends have never been paid and are not anticipated to be paid in the foreseeable future. Therefore,
the assumed expected dividend yield is zero.

Pre-vesting option forfeitures at the time of grant are required to be estimated and periodically revised in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Stock-based compensation expense is recorded only for those
awards expected to vest using an estimated forfeiture rate based on historical pre-vesting forfeiture data.

The following table shows the detailed assumptions used to compute the fair value of stock options granted during
2010, 2009 and 2008:

2010 2009 2008
Expected term (years) 3.28 to 4 years 3.25 to 4 years 3 to 4 years
Volatility 33% 33% to 39% 34% to 45%
Risk free interest rate 1.3% to 1.9% 1.8% to 1.9% 3.0%
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The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during 2010 and 2009 was $.82 per option.
Unrecognized stock-based compensation expense was approximately $361,000 as of December 31, 2010, relating to a
total of 817,000 unvested stock options under the Company s stock option plans. This stock-based compensation
expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 1.5 years.

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the three years ended December 31, 2010:
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Weighted
Average
Number of Exercise Exercise Price
Shares Price Range

Outstanding at January 1, 2008 1,699,723 $ 754 $3.40-$18.13
Granted 398,250 $ 537 $5.31-%5.38
Exercised (178,491) $ 3.87 $ 3.83-$4.48
Expired (324,874) $ 790 $3.83-$18.13
Outstanding at December 31, 2008 1,594,608 $ 733 $4.48 - $18.13
Granted 275,000 $ 2.6l $2.59 - $2.69
Exercised -
Expired (424,625 ) $ 12.25 $4.93-$18.13
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 1,444,983 $ 499 $2.59 - $7.08
Granted 421,150 $ 293 $ 2.60 - $2.97
Exercised -
Expired (203,200 ) $ 540 $2.97-%6.78
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 1,662,933 $ 442 $2.59 - $7.08

The following table summarizes stock option information at December 31, 2010:

Options outstanding

Options exercisable

Weighted Weighted
average average
Range of remaining exercise
exercise price Shares life (yrs) price Shares
$2.59 to $4.25 657,650 3.76 $ 281 90,000
$4.26 to $5.25 364,033 1.40 $ 493 364,033
$5.26 to $5.99 486,250 2.66 $ 546 257,575
$6.00 to $7.08 155,000 3.66 $ 678 134,000
1,662,933 291 $ 442 845,608

Weighted Weighted
average average
remaining exercise
life (yrs) price
3.30 $ 2.65
1.40 $ 4.93
2.69 $ 5.53
341 $ 6.80
2.32 $ 5.17

The total intrinsic value of all outstanding options at December 31, 2010 whose exercise price was less than the
Company s closing stock price on that date was $0. The total intrinsic value, determined as of the date of exercise, of
options exercised in 2008 was $124,000. No options were exercised in 2009 or 2010. Cash received from option
exercises in 2008 amounted to $588,000. The total fair value of options that vested during 2010 and 2009 was

$722,000 and $609,000, respectively.
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During 2007, stock options to purchase 127,500 shares of common stock were granted that would vest only upon the
attainment of an earnings-per-share target of $.40 in 2007, 2008 or 2009. This target was not achieved and these
options have expired unvested. Through the third quarter 2008, stock compensation expense had been recorded in
relation to these options as management had believed that achievement of the stated per-share earnings target was
probable. During the fourth quarter 2008, management changed this assessment as it was no longer believed that
attainment of the stated per-share earnings target was probable. As such, the previously recorded expense relating to
this option grant in the amount of $139,000 was reversed during the fourth quarter 2008.
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During 2008, stock options to purchase 137,500 shares of common stock were granted that will vest only upon the
attainment of a pre-tax earnings per-share target of $.69 in 2008, 2009 or 2010. Expense relating to this grant in the
amount of $44,000 was recorded in 2008 as management believed that achievement of the pre-tax per-share target was
probable. During the first quarter 2009, management changed this assessment and no longer believes that attainment
of the stated per-share earnings target is probable. As such, the previously recorded expense relating to this option
grant in the amount of $44,000 was reversed during the first quarter 2009.

With respect to non-qualified stock options and incentive stock options that are exercised and held for less than one
year, the Company recognizes a tax benefit upon exercise in an amount equal to the tax effect of the difference
between the option price and the fair market value of the common stock on the exercise date. Tax benefits related to
such stock option exercises are credited to income if less than the amount of stock compensation recorded for the
related options, or if greater, credited to additional paid-in capital.

Note K - Stockholder Rights Plan

On October 27, 2000, the Company s Board of Directors adopted a Stockholder Rights Plan. Under this plan, one
preferred stock Purchase Right was distributed as a dividend for each share of common stock held by the stockholders
of record as of the close of business on November 8, 2000. Until the occurrence of certain events, the Rights are
traded as a unit with the common stock. Each Right will separate and entitle stockholders to buy stock upon the
occurrence of certain events generally related to the change of control of the Company as defined in the Plan. The
Rights become exercisable ten days after either (1) an Acquiring Person acquires or commences a tender offer to
acquire 15% or more of the Company s common stock, or (2) an Adverse Person has acquired 10% or more of the
Company s common stock and the Board determines this person is likely to cause pressure on the Company to enter
into a transaction that is not in the Company s best long-term interest. All Rights not held by an Acquiring Person or
an Adverse Person become rights to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of one share of preferred stock
at an initial exercise price of $110 per Right. Each Right entitles the holder of that Right to purchase the equivalent of
$220 worth of the Company s common stock for $110. If after such an event the Company merges, consolidates or
engages in a similar transaction in which it does not survive, each holder has a flip over right to buy discounted stock
in the surviving entity. The Company may redeem the Rights for $.001 each. The Rights Plan was initially scheduled
to expire on November 1, 2010 and has been extended through November 1, 2012. The Plan can be modified or
terminated, at the option of the Board of Directors.

Note L - Income Taxes

Pre-tax earnings consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008:
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2010 2009 2008
Pre-tax (loss) earnings:
United States $ (11,547,000) $ (8,646,000) $ 708,000
Outside United States 536,000 294,000 766,000
Total pre-tax (loss) earnings $(11,011,000) $ (8,352,000) $ 1,474,000

For the same periods, the provision (benefit) for income taxes was as follows:
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2010 2009 2008
Current income tax provision (benefit):
Federal $ 53,000 $ (26,000 ) $ (447,000 )
State 5,000 12,000 16,000
Foreign (83,000 ) 57,000 70,000
Net change in liability for unrecognized
tax benefits (6,000 ) (335,000 ) (407,000 )
(31,000 ) (292,000 ) (768,000 )
Deferred provision 197,000 2,052,000 579,000
Total provision (benefit) $ 166,000 $ 1,760,000 $ (189,000)

Prior to the fourth quarter 2010, the Company had not provided for federal and state income taxes on the accumulated
earnings of its Canadian subsidiary as it was the Company s intent to indefinitely reinvest such earnings in the
operations of the subsidiary. The Company now believes that it is reasonably possible that a portion of such
accumulated earnings may be repatriated in the foreseeable future. The 2010 deferred provision includes a discrete
tax provision of $138,000 related to the impact on earnings of this change in assumption, recorded at the federal and
state marginal tax rates, less the amount of net operating losses and tax credit carry-forwards that can be used to offset
the federal and state tax.

Deferred tax assets, including carryforwards and other attributes, are reviewed for expected realization and a valuation
allowance is established when appropriate to reduce the assets to their estimated net realizable value. Expected
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon sufficient taxable income in the appropriate jurisdiction and year
that is also of the appropriate character. During the second quarter of 2009, the Company evaluated the availability of
such taxable income, the nature of its deferred tax assets and the relevant tax laws in determining the net realizable
value of its deferred tax assets, and determined that the Company s United States deferred tax assets were substantially
impaired at that time. The 2009 deferred income provision includes a second-quarter charge of $2,935,000 to record a
full valuation allowance against the Company s then current balance of United States deferred tax assets as well as
deferred tax assets generated during 2009. Offsetting this charge were the reversal of the deferred tax liability relating
to the Company s fourth quarter impairment of goodwill, which totaled $587,000, and the recognition of a deferred tax
asset totaling $385,000 relating to a fourth quarter United States tax law change that allows the Company to carry

back net operating losses five years rather than two years. This tax law change allowed the Company to carry its 2009
net operating loss back to 2006 and resulted in a refund amounting to $387,000 during 2010.

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate to the effective rates is as follows:

2010 2009 2008
Federal income tax at statutory rate 34.0 % 34.0 % 34.0 %
Foreign taxes .8 3 0.2)
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State tax provision
Meals and Entertainment
Stock compensation expense
Tax exempt interest
Canadian tax credits
Change of assumption relating to
indefinite reinvestment of foreign earnings

Valuation allowance

Note K - Stockholder Rights Plan

2.7

0.7)

0.5)
3
4.4

(10.3)
(35.4)
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3.2
0.3)
0.3)

2

4.5

(73.9)

1.8

1.9
(3.2)
(24.8)

20.6
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(continued) 2010 2009
Reversal of valuation allowance due to change in enacted U.S. tax law 4.6
Research and development credits 3.0 2.5
Resolution of prior year tax uncertainties 1 34

Addition to income taxes payable-uncertainties
Other A i
Effective tax rate (1.5)% 21.1 Y%

2008

(16.2)
(30.2)
2.6
2
(12.8 )%

Research and development tax credits and Canadian tax credits are generated primarily from research and
development efforts in the United States and Canada. The tax exempt interest relates to the Company s investment
portfolio. The foreign sales exemption relates to the Company s extraterritorial income exclusion recorded for tax
purposes. The tax uncertainties were released based upon the lapsing of the statute of limitations related to these

uncertainties.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

At December 31,
2010 2009
Assets:
Current:
Accrued vacation, payroll and other accrued expenses $ 686,000 296,000
Inventory and inventory related items 1,146,000 986,000
Bad debt and note receivable reserves 90,000 58,000
Non-current:
Net operating loss carryforwards 5,432,000 2,503,000
Stock compensation expense 850,000 708,000
Capital loss carryforwards 88,000 236,000
Tax credit carryforwards 3,355,000 2,433,000
Depreciation and long-lived asset impairments 201,000 195,000
Goodwill 887,000 998,000
Other 42,000 46,000
Total gross deferred tax assets 12,777,000 8,459,000
Liabilities:
Current:
Note K - Stockholder Rights Plan

111



Edgar Filing: PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES INC \DE\ - Form 10-K

Fair value of foreign currency hedge contracts $ (6,000 ) $
Non-current:
Capitalized software development costs, net (1,448,000 )
Unremitted earnings (1,130,000 )
Total deferred tax liabilities (2,584,000 )
Net deferred tax assets 10,193,000
Less-valuation allowance (10,244,000 )
Net deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance $ (51,000 ) $
57

Note K - Stockholder Rights Plan

(73,000 )
(1,596,000 )
(1,669,000 )

6,790,000

(6,222,000 )
568,000
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The total deferred tax assets and liabilities as presented in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets are as
follows:

At December 31,
2010 2009
Net current deferred tax assets $ - $ 392,000
Net non-current deferred tax assets $ - $ 176,000
Net non-current deferred tax liability $ 51,000 $ -

The total change in the valuation allowance in 2010 and 2009 was $4,022,000 and $5,762,000, respectively.

In 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Company generated federal and state net operating losses for income tax purposes. These
federal and state net operating loss carryforwards, which total approximately $15,000,000 at December 31, 2010,
begin to expire in 2026, if not utilized. Of the Company s tax credit carryforwards, $2,956,000 expire between 2019
and 2029, if not utilized, and the remaining of carryforwards do not expire. In addition, the Company has a capital
loss carryforward in the amount of approximately $190,000, expiring in 2012.

At December 31, 2010, the Company s balance of unrecognized tax benefits was $0. At December 31, 2009, the
Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $65,000, of which $22,000 would have a favorable impact on our tax
provision (benefit), if recognized. A reconciliation of the unrecognized tax benefits liability for 2009 and 2008 is as
follows:

Balance at January 1, 2008 $ 807,000
Reductions related to expirations of statutes of limitations
(including interest of $69,000) (375,000 )
Additions for the accrual of interest and penalties 37,000
Reduction due to the change in foreign exchange rates (69,000 )
Balance at December 31, 2008 400,000
Reductions related to expirations of statutes of limitations
(including interest of $50,000) (172,000 )
Reductions from settlements with taxing authorities
(including interest and penalties of $39,000) (176,000 )
Additions for the accrual of interest and penalties 11,000
Addition due to the change in foreign exchange rates 2,000
Balance at December 31, 2009 65,000
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Additions for the accrual of interest 2,000
Reductions from settlements with taxing authorities
(including interest and penalties of $14,000) (67,000 )
Balance at December 31, 2010 $ -

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2009 was accrued interest and penalties in the
amount of $12,000.
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The Company files U.S. federal, U.S. state, and foreign tax returns. For federal tax returns, the Company is no longer
subject to tax examinations for years prior to 2009. For foreign and state returns, the Company is also no longer
subject to tax examinations for years prior to 2006. It is reasonably possible that the liability associated with the
Company s unrecognized tax benefits will increase or decrease within the next twelve months. Based upon the closing
of the tax years in these various jurisdictions, the Company may adjust its liability for unrecognized tax benefits.

These changes may be the result of new examinations by taxing authorities, ongoing examinations, or the expiration

of statutes of limitations.

Note M - Research and Development

The Company incurred research and development costs relating to the development of new products as follows:

2010 2009 2008
Gross expenditures for engineering and
software development $ 10,084,000 $ 10,069,000 $ 11,165,000
Less: amounts capitalized (2,261,000 ) (2,273,000 ) (2,122,000 )
Net charged to operating expenses $ 7,823,000 $ 7,796,000 $ 9,043,000
Software development costs consisted of the following:
Software development costs consisted of the following:
At December 31,
2010 2009
Capitalized software development costs $ 20,953,000 $ 18,692,000
Less: accumulated amortization (16,154,000 ) (13,438,000 )
Net $ 4,799,000 $ 5,254,000

Amortization of software development costs included in cost of goods sold was $2,716,000, $1,694,000 and
$1,579,000 for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Amortization of software development costs for 2010 and 2008
included charges to write off or write down to estimated net realizable value software development costs amounting to
$604,000 and $76,000, respectively, and were capitalized for new products which either had not reached commercial
general release and were discontinued, or which have been released and for which revenue is not expected to be
sufficient to absorb the project s unamortized cost.
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It is estimated that amortization of software development costs capitalized at December 31, 2010 will total
approximately $2,265,000, $1,564,000, $905,000, and $65,000 in 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively.

During 2010, the Company paid one-time license fees totaling $580,000 to acquire certain software technologies,
which the Company plans to use in synergistic combination with its captive technologies to develop new end-market
products. This amount has been recorded in property, equipment and improvements. Similarly, during 2009, the
Company paid a one-time license fee of $928,000 to acquire certain software technologies, which the Company plans
to use in synergistic combination with its captive technologies to develop new end-market products. Of this amount,
$835,000 was recorded in capitalized software development costs and $93,000 was allocated to property, equipment
and improvements, based on the estimated respective fair values of the technologies acquired.
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Note N - Employee Benefit Plans

For the Company s operations in the United States, the Company s Retirement Savings Plan qualifies under Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Discretionary matching contributions by the Company to the plan were $0,
$21,000 and $100,000 for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. In conjunction with its flexible benefits plans, the
Company made additional discretionary qualified contributions to employee accounts which vest immediately
amounting to $0, $16,000 and $42,000 for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

For its operations in Canada, contributions were made in 2010, 2009 and 2008 to a Registered Retirement Savings
Plan (RRSP) that is administered by the Canadian government. Discretionary matching contributions to the Plan
amounted to $0, $6,000 and $25,000 for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Note O _Derivative Instruments Foreign Currency Hedge Contracts

The Company is exposed to the impact of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates in its Canadian and United Kingdom
operations. The Company s risk management program is designed to reduce the exposure and volatility arising from
this risk.

During 2010, the Company entered into foreign currency forward contracts with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (the
Bank ) in order to fix in U.S. dollars a portion monthly cost of the Company s Canadian operation, which is
denominated in Canadian dollars. The purpose of these contracts is to reduce the Company s exposure to variability in
the exchange rates between the United States and Canada for each month. These contracts effectively fixed the
exchange rate on the first $100,000CDN of 2010 monthly expenses for the months of April and May at approximately
.948, on the first $200,000CDN of 2010 monthly expenses for the months of June through July at approximately .941,
and on the first $300,000CDN of 2010 monthly expenses for the months of August through December at
approximately .943. In addition, during 2010 the Company entered into contracts to effectively fix the exchange rate
on the first $100,000CDN of 2011 monthly expenses for the months of January through March at approximately .948.

During 2009, the Company entered into foreign currency forward contracts with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (the

Bank ) in order to fix in U.S. dollars a portion (approximately 70%) of the first quarter 2010 cost of the Company s
Canadian and United Kingdom operations, which are denominated in Canadian dollars and pounds sterling,
respectively. The Canadian dollar contracts effectively fixed the exchange rate on the first $350,000CDN of first
quarter 2010 monthly expenses at approximately .785. The pounds sterling contracts effectively fix the exchange rate
on the first £100,000 of first quarter 2010 quarterly expenses at approximately 1.39.
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In addition, during 2008 the Company entered into similar instruments in order to fix in U.S. dollars a portion of the
cost of the Canadian and United Kingdom operations for all of 2009. These contracts effectively fixed the exchange
rate on the first $360,000CDN of 2009 monthly expenses at rates ranging from .785 to .787, and fixed the exchange
rate on the first £105,000 of 2009 quarterly U.K. expenses at rates ranging from 1.497 to 1.501.

All of these contracts have been designated as effective cash flow hedges and any gains or losses resulting from
changes in the fair value of these contracts are recorded in other comprehensive income. The Company receives, or is
required to disburse, cash payments upon the expiration of each contract depending on fluctuations in the underlying
exchange rates; such payments will be recorded as reductions to or increases in expense as they are determined.

The fair value of the Company s derivative instruments was as follows:
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Balance Fair value at
Sheet December 31, December 31,
Location 2010 2009
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments Current assets $ 17,000 $ 201,000

All of the fair value of the Company s derivative instruments at December 31, 2010 is expected to be reclassified to
earnings during 2011.

The Company s derivative instruments had the following effect on the statements of operations:

Amount of gain reclassified from
accumulated other
comprehensive income to the
statement of operations

Year ended December 31,

Location of gain

Derivatives fair value hedging recognized in
relationships operations 2010 2009 2008
Reduction of
operating
Foreign exchange contracts expenses $ 273,000 $ $430,000 S -

The Company s derivative instruments had the following effect on other comprehensive (loss) income:

Amount of gain recognized in other
comprehensive income

Year ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning $ 128,000 $ 73,000 $ -
Amount of gain recognized in statement of
operations, net of tax (175,000 ) (275,000 ) -
Net change in fair value of derivative instruments 58,000 330,000 73,000
Accumulated other comprehensive income, ending $ 11,000 128,000 $ 73,000

Note P - Litigation
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The Company is subject to various other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business.

In December 2009, the Company became aware that Tekelec, a California corporation headquartered in Morrisville,
North Carolina, had filed but not served a complaint against the Company in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern
District of North Carolina. The complaint alleged that certain of the Company s signaling systems products infringe
three of Tekelec s issued patents and seeks a determination of infringement, a preliminary and permanent injunction
from further infringement and an unspecified amount of damages. On March 4, 2010, an amended complaint was
served on the Company through its designated agent in North Carolina. The amended complaint contained the same
allegations as the original complaint but added two patents to the number of patents which Tekelec alleges the
Company s signaling systems products infringe. Subsequently, the complaint was further amended to add a sixth
patent which Tekelec alleges the Company s signaling systems product infringe.
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The Company believes that the basis for Tekelec s infringement claims is without merit and is vigorously defending
itself against those claims. Discovery in this matter has commenced and the matter is proceeding toward trial. No
liability has been recorded relating to this matter because of the uncertainty of its eventual outcome and the inability to
estimate the amount of damages that may be assessed, if any.

The Company issues indemnifications in the ordinary course of business with certain customers, suppliers, service
providers and business partners. Further, the Company indemnifies its directors and officers who are, or were, serving
at the Company s request in such capacities. The fair value of the indemnifications that the Company issued during
2010 was not material to the Company s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Note Q - Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges amounted to $1,176,000, $626,000 and $0 in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Restructuring
charges in 2010 relate to two actions.

In December 2009, the Company announced its decision to outsource manufacturing of the printed circuit board
assembly for the hardware elements of PT s products. This action was undertaken in order to reduce the Company s
future capital expenditure requirements and make product costs more predictable. In connection with this decision,
the Company reduced its Rochester workforce by fourteen employees. Restructuring charges associated with this
action totaled $271,000, and consisted of severance charges of $209,000 and impairment charges against idled
manufacturing equipment of $62,000. Of the total restructuring charges, $209,000 represents cash charges, of which
$190,000 was paid during 2010 and $19,000 was included in accrued restructuring at December 31, 2010.

In December 2010, the Company announced an expense reduction action which is being implemented during the first
and second quarters 2011. The program includes the elimination of approximately 21 positions, which represents

12% of the Company s workforce. In addition, in connection with this action, the Company s San Luis Obispo,
California engineering center will be closed with those hardware engineering functions to be assumed by the

Company s engineering staff in Rochester. Restructuring charges associated with this action totaled $905,000 in 2010,
and charges totaling approximately $99,000 are expected to be incurred in the first and second quarters 2011.
Substantially all of the charges resulting from this action are employee severance and related costs and are expected to
be cash expenditures. No cash was expended in connection with this action in 2010.

Restructuring charges in 2009 relate to actions the Company took to improve its cost structure primarily through
reductions in the Company s staff. These actions, which consisted of a reduction in force of 20 employees in January
2009 and a voluntary reduction in force of 8 employees in August 2009, were both completed in 2009. The
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restructuring charges consisted entirely of employee severance and related costs.

A summary of the activity with respect to restructuring charges is as follows:
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Lease

Number of Severance commitments

employees Reserve and other Total
Balance at January 1, 2008 - $ - $ 505,000 $ 505,000
2008 utilization - - (505,000 ) (505,000 )
Balance at December 31, 2008 - - - -
2009 restructuring charges 28 626,000 - 626,000
2009 utilization (28) (626,000 ) - (626,000 )
Balance at December 31, 2009 - - - -
2010 restructuring charges 35 1,114,000 62,000 1,176,000
2010 utilization 13) (190,000 ) (62,000 ) (252,000 )
Balance at December 31, 2010 22 $ 924,000 $ - $ 924,000

All utilization amounts in 2008 through 2010 represent cash payments.

Note R Subsequent Event

In January 2011, the Company entered into an asset sale agreement with GENBAND to acquire GENBAND's
Universal Signaling Platform ( USP ) and SP2000 signaling technology which GENBAND had acquired in its May
2010 acquisition of Nortel's Carrier VoIP and Application Solutions business. In connection with this transaction, the
Company acquired software, equipment, inventories, and intellectual property including a signaling-related patent, a
license under GENBAND's signaling patent portfolio and an assignment in part of signaling technology conveyed to
GENBAND under license from Nortel. The total consideration for these assets is $5,000,000, of which $4,000,000
was paid at closing in January 2011 and $1,000,000 is due in January 2012. In addition to the acquisition of assets,
the Company agreed to provide GENBAND with development, support and maintenance of signaling solutions, and
solutions for stand-alone signaling applications as well as integrated signaling capabilities.

Note S - Product Revenue

The following table represents the Company s total sales for 2011, 2010 and 2009 classified by product category:

2010 2009 2008
Telecommunications $ 22,599,000 $ 24,174,000 $ 35,634,000
Military, aerospace and
government systems 5,347,000 5,317,000 4,883,000
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Total $ 27,946,000 $ 29,491,000 $ 40,517,000
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Note T - Quarterly Results (unaudited)

The following is a summary of unaudited quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2010 and
2009:

2010
(in thousands, except per share data)

Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31
Sales $ 7,355 $ 7,449 $ 6,307 $ 6,835
Software capitalization write-off 604
Gross profit 3,898 3,279 2,506 2,101
Restructuring charges 63 64 69 980
Stock compensation expense 158 129 71 88
Loss from operations (1,836) (2,075) (3,027) (4,402)
Net loss $ (1,900) $  (1,960) $  (2929) $ (4,388)
Basic loss per share $ (0.17) $ (0.18) $ (0.26) $ (0.39)

(in thousands, except per share data)

Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31
Sales $ 6,927 $ 6,356 $ 7,876 $ 8,332
Gross profit 3,736 3,202 4,295 4,465
Restructuring charges 444 181
Impairment charges 4,278
Stock compensation expense 148 158 107 131
Loss from operations (1,880) (1,663) (619) (4,634)
Net loss $ (1,4206) $ (4,731) $ (348) $ (3,607)
Basic loss per share $ (0.13) $ (0.43) $ (0.03) $ (0.32)

ITEM 9 - Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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ITEM 9A(T) - Controls and Procedures

a. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company s Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer evaluated the effectiveness of the Company s
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the
period covered by this annual report. Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that the Company s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of such date.
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b. Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting for the Company. The Company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
Company's assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and that the Company's receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the
Company s management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may
deteriorate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting
based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the Company's
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2010, according to the criteria.

This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company s registered public accounting firm regarding
the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Management s report was not subject to attestation by the
Company s registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission
that permit the Company to provide only management s report in this annual report.

c. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
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There has been no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth
quarter of 2010 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal
controls over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B - Other Information

None.
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PART II1

ITEM 10 - Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The following table sets forth information regarding our directors:

Name Age Position Term expires
Class I Directors:
Charles E. Maginness 78  Director 2011 annual meeting
E. Mark Rajkowski* 52 Director 2011 annual meeting*
Class II Directors:
Stuart B. Meisenzahl 69  Director and Secretary 2013 Annual Meeting
John M. Slusser 58 Chairman of the Board, President 2013 Annual Meeting

and Chief Executive Officer
Class II Directors:
Dennis C. Connors 57  Director 2012 Annual Meeting
Robert L. Tillman 63  Director 2012 Annual Meeting

* On June 7, 2010, the Company announced that Mr. Rajkowski had informed the Board of Directors of his intent to
not seek re-election when his current Board term expires at the 2011 Annual Meeting.

The following sets forth the background of each of our directors:

Dennis C. Connors has been an advisor to senior management of a number of private and public companies since
2005. Mr. Connors served from 2003-2004 as executive vice president of worldwide operations for 3Com, and served
from 2002-2003 as president of CommWorks, a 3Com subsidiary which provided both wireless and wireline solutions
to service providers worldwide. Mr. Connors previously was president of 3Com s Business Connectivity Company.
Prior to joining 3Com, Mr. Connors was executive vice president and general manager of the service business for
Ericsson, Inc., and previously served the Ericsson/GE joint venture as vice president of worldwide marketing and vice
president of global product development and operations for the Private Radio Systems Business. Mr. Connors came to
the Ericsson/GE joint venture from GE where he held a number of executive positions. Mr. Connors is considered to
be uniquely qualified to serve as a director of the Company because of his extensive executive management
experience in our industry, his broad knowledge of business, and his network of contacts within our industry.

Note K - Stockholder Rights Plan 129



Edgar Filing: PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES INC \DE\ - Form 10-K

Charles E. Maginness served as Chairman of our Board of Directors from 1986 to 2001 and served as our Chief
Executive Officer from 1995 to 1997. From 1984 through 1986, he held the position of President and from 1984
through 1995 was also Chief Financial Officer. From 1970 to 1983, Mr. Maginness was employed by Kayex
Corporation where he held several positions, including President and Chief Executive Officer, and President of its
Hamco Division. Mr. Maginness is considered to be uniquely qualified to serve as a director of the Company because
of his prior management experience with the Company, his extensive business acumen, his financial expertise and his
industry knowledge.

Stuart B. Meisenzahl has served as a director of the Company since 2001. He is a former partner in the law firm of
Harter, Secrest & Emery LLP, which continues to serve as general counsel to the Company. He was affiliated with the
firm for 36 years, retiring in 1999, and he practiced principally in the areas of federal securities law and biotechnology
licensing. Following his retirement, Mr. Meisenzahl has acted as a business consultant to a number of biotechnology
companies. In addition, he has served as director or trustee of a number of charitable organizations in Rochester, New
York. Mr. Meisenzahl is considered to be uniquely qualified to serve as a director of the Company because of his
broad business acumen and his knowledge of licensing technology and SEC compliance.
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E. Mark Rajkowski has been Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of MeadWestvaco Corporation since
2004 and has served as director of the Company since 2003. From December 2003 to August 2004, Mr. Rajkowski
was Vice President and General Manager, Worldwide Operations, Digital Film and Imaging Systems Business, for
Eastman Kodak Company. From January 2003 to December 2003, he held the position of Chief Operating Officer of
Kodak s Digital and Applied Imaging Division. From 2001 to 2003, he held the position of Vice President of Finance
for Eastman Kodak and from 1998 until 2001 he held the position of Corporate Controller for Eastman Kodak. Mr.
Rajkowski is considered to be uniquely qualified to serve as a director of the Company because of his financial and
accounting expertise, his extensive executive management experience, and his demonstrated business acumen.

John M. Slusser, a founder of the Company, has served as President and Chief Executive Officer since January 2007,
after serving as interim President and Chief Executive Officer since October 2006, Chairman of the Board of Directors
since June 2001, as a director since our formation in 1981 and as Chief Strategic Officer from January 2003 to May
2005. From 1981 through 1995, he held various positions within the Company, including President and Chief
Executive Officer. From 1995 until 2000, he served as Chairman of the Board of InformationView Solutions
Corporation and from 1995 to 1999 he served as that company s Chief Executive Officer. Since 2000, he has served as
President of Radio Daze LLC, a vintage electronics company. Prior to founding the Company, Mr. Slusser held
various positions at Computer Consoles, Inc. (now a division of Nortel Networks). Mr. Slusser holds a BSEE degree
from Rochester Institute of Technology. Mr. Slusser is considered to be uniquely qualified to serve as a director of
the Company because of his lifelong experience in our industry and his deep knowledge of our Companys, its industry,
and its people.

Robert L. Tillman has been an independent business consultant since 2002. From 2000 to 2002, he served as General
Manager in Intel s Embedded Intel Architecture Division, where he was responsible for the operations of Ziatech
Corporation. From 1997 to 2000 he held the position of President of Ziatech Corporation. From 1971 to 1997, Mr.
Tillman held various positions at Hewlett Packard. Mr. Tillman is considered to be uniquely qualified to serve as a
director of the Company because of his prior executive management experience in our industry, his network of
contacts within our industry, and his extensive business acumen.

Audit Committee

The Company s Board of Directors has a standing Audit Committee comprised of three non-employee director
members. At present, Messrs. Rajkowski, Connors and Meisenzahl serve as members of the Audit Committee, and
Mr. Rajkowski serves as Chairperson. The Board has determined that Mr. Rajkowski qualifies as an audit committee
financial expert under applicable SEC rules.

Executive Officers
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The following table sets forth information regarding individuals who are serving or served as our executive officers

during 2010:

Name
John J. Grana
Dorrance W. Lamb
William E. Mahuson
J. Patrick Rice
John M. Slusser

Note K - Stockholder Rights Plan

Age

55
63
60
52
58

Position
Senior Vice President - Products and Technology
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Senior Vice President
Senior Vice President - Sales, Marketing and Services
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
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The following sets forth the background of each of our executive officers:

John J. Grana has served as Senior Vice President, Products and Technology since March 2009. Previously, Mr.
Grana served as Senior Vice President and General Manager of the Embedded Systems Group from January 2007 to
March 2009. From November 2005 to 2007, he served as Senior Vice President of Systems Engineering. From 2000
to 2005 he served as Vice President of Software Engineering. From 1997 to 2000, he held the position of Vice
President and General Manager of the Controller Products Group. From 1994 to 1997, he held the position of Vice
President of Software Engineering. From 1990 to 1994, he held the position of Technical Director of the Workstation
Products business unit, and from 1986 to 1990, he served in various engineering positions. Prior to joining the
Company, he held various engineering positions with Computer Consoles, Inc. (now a division of Nortel Networks).
Mr. Grana holds a BS degree in computer science from Rochester Institute of Technology.

Dorrance W. Lamb has served as Chief Financial Officer of the Company since 1995 and as Senior Vice President
since November 2005. From 1992 to 2005 he served as Vice President of Finance. Prior to joining the Company, he
was Senior Vice President for Finance and Administration at Infodata Systems, Inc. based in Fairfax, Virginia.

Mr. Lamb is a certified public accountant and holds a BS degree in accounting from Benjamin Franklin University.

William E. Mahuson, served as Senior Corporate Vice President from March 2007 until his retirement from the
Company in November 2010. Mr. Mahuson continues to receive salary and employee benefits through April 2011.
From 2005 to 2007 he served as Vice President of Business Development. From 1987 to 2005 he served as Vice
President. From 1992 to 1995 he served as General Manager of the UconX business unit of the Company. From 1987
to 1990, he served as Vice President, Engineering. Prior to joining the Company, he held various technical and
technical management positions with Computer Consoles, Inc. and Xerox Corporation. Mr. Mahuson holds a BS
degree in electrical engineering from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute.

J. Patrick Rice has served as Senior Vice President, Sales, Marketing and Services since March 2009. Previously,
Mr. Rice served as Vice President and General Manager - Signaling Systems Group from January 2007 to March
2009. Prior to that appointment, he served as Vice President of Worldwide Signaling Sales and Marketing since
joining the Company in June 2006. From 2005 to 2006, Mr. Rice was an independent sales consultant for the telecom
equipment industry. Mr. Rice held key senior positions at Tekelec for twelve years from 1992 to 2004, most recently
serving as Vice President-Global Sales for Tekelec s switching division. Prior to joining Tekelec, Mr. Rice held
various engineering and sales positions with Nortel Networks. Throughout his career, Mr. Rice has served on various
industry committees in both participative and leadership roles.

John M. Slusser, a founder of the Company, has served as President and Chief Executive Officer since October
2006. Further information about Mr. Slusser is set forth above in the Board of Director s section.
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Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

The Company s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the Code ) applies to all directors, officers and employees or
associates of the Company and its subsidiary companies. It is intended to promote the highest standards of honesty

and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and
professional relationships, full and understandable disclosure in reports and documents filed with the SEC,

compliance with applicable governmental rules and regulations, the prompt reporting of violations of the Code to an
appropriate person or persons identified in the Code, and accountability for adherence to the Code. The Code
complies with the requirements of Item 406 of the SEC s Regulation S-K.
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The Board has established a means for employees, customers, suppliers, stockholders and other interested parties to
submit confidential and anonymous reports of suspected or actual violations of the Company s Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics.

Any employee, stockholder or other interested party can send an email to auditcommittee @pt.com to submit a report
of suspected or actual violations of the Company s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. In addition, communications
can be sent to the Chairman of our Audit Committee at:

Mr. E. Mark Rajkowski
MeadWestvaco Corporation
Worldwide Headquarters
11013 W. Broad Street

Glen Ellen, VA 23060

The Company s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our website at www.pt.com in the Investors
section.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our officers and directors and persons who own more than 10% of a
registered class of our equity securities to file certain reports regarding ownership of, and transactions in, our
securities with the SEC. Such officers, directors and 10% stockholders are also required by SEC rules to furnish us
with copies of all Section 16(a) reports that they file.

Based solely on our review of such reports furnished to us and written representations from certain reporting persons,
we believe that our executive officers, directors and more than 10% stockholders timely filed all Section 16(a) reports
required to be filed by them during the most recent fiscal year.
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ITEM 11 - Executive and Director Compensation

Overview

The Compensation Committee (the Committee ) of the Board has responsibility for establishing, implementing and
continually monitoring executive compensation. The Committee s focus is to establish compensation at levels
necessary to attract, retain and motivate the best possible executive talent. Historically, the Committee has developed
our executive compensation programs based on input from our Chief Executive Officer, third-party compensation
surveys, the officers current compensation, our financial condition, our operating results, and individual performance.

Throughout this section, the individual who served as the Company s Chief Executive Officer during 2010, as well as
the other individuals included in the 2010 Summary Compensation Table included below, are referred to as the
Named Executive Officers.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, the principal components of compensation for our Named Executive Officers
consisted of base salary and long-term incentive award compensation. Historically, the Committee has established a
short term incentive program to recognize exceptional performance and to assist in catching up with the targeted
compensation goal. However, during the past two years, the Company s financial performance has not met the
Committee s minimum expectations for such a program.
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2010 SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The table below summarizes the total compensation paid or earned by each of the Named Executive Officers for the
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:

Non-equity Stock All other
incentive plan compen-
Name and Principal compensation  Stock option
awards() sation®
Position Year Salary awards Total
John M. Slusser 2010 $330,000 - - $63,870 $ 6,099  $399,969
$330,000
Chief Executive Officer 2009 - - $59,641 $ 7,299  $396,940
and President
Dorrance W. Lamb 2010 $237,602 - - $ 29,806 $ 5933 $273,341
Senior Vice President 2009 $237,602 - - $ 29,821 $ 6,303 $273,726
and
Chief Financial Officer
J. Patrick Rice 2010 $246,2783) - - $ 34,064 $14,823  $295,164
Senior Vice President - 2009 $257,8313) - - $ 29,821 $14,342  $301,994
Sales, Marketing and
Services

(1) The dollar value of stock option awards set forth in this column is equal to the grant-date fair value of
stock-based compensation cost calculated in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board s Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 718 ( Topic 718 ). A discussion of the assumptions used in calculating the amount is set
forth in Note J to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K.

2) All other compensation includes benefits paid for automobile allowances, 401(k) contributions, health
insurance and life insurance.

(3)  Mr. Rice s reported salary amounts include sales commissions based on sales of certain specific products. This
commission amounted to $46,275 in 2010 and $57,828 in 2009.

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT DECEMBER 31, 2010
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PT grants awards of equity compensation under our 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan. On January 18, 2010, we granted
the following number of stock options to each of our Named Executive Officers: Mr. Slusser - 75,000; Mr. Lamb
35,000; and Mr. Rice  40,000. The exercise price of these options was $2.97, which was the closing price of our
Common Stock on the date of grant. The grant-date fair value of these stock options is included above in the Option
Awards column of the Summary Compensation Table.

The shares subject to these stock options vest over a three-year period as follows: 20% vests on the first anniversary of
the date of grant; and additional 30% vests on the second anniversary of the date of grant; and the remaining 50%

vests on the third anniversary of the date of grant. Mr. Slusser s and Mr. Lamb s stock options become fully vested and
exercisable upon a change of control of the Company. All of these stock options are exercisable for a five-year period
commencing on the date of grant and provide the right for the Named Executive Officer to exercise vested options for
one year following termination, death, disability or resignation.

The following table sets forth information regarding the number of shares of Common Stock underlying exercisable
and unexercisable stock options outstanding on December 31, 2010 for our Named Executive Officers. The Company
has not made any awards other than stock option awards.
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Option Awards
Equity Incentive
Number of Number of Option
Plan Awards: Exercise Option
Securities Securities Price Expiration
Number of
Underlying Underlying Securities
Unexercised Unexercised Underlying
Options Options Unexercised
#) #) Unearned Options
Name Exercisable Unexercisable #) % Date
John M. Slusser 10,000 -(D) $7.08 5/25/2011
15,000 -(2) 5.82 1/16/2012
50,000 -(3) 4.93 5/24/2012
17,500 17,500 (4) 5.38 7/8/2013
14,000 56,000 (8) 2.59 3/12/2014
- 75,000 (9) 2.97 1/18/2015
Dorrance W. Lamb 15,000 -3 493 512412012
12,000 -(5) 5.78 5/17/2013
16,000 4,000 (6) 6.64 3/17/2016
9,375 9,375 (4) 5.38 7/8/2013
7,000 28,000 (8) 2.59 3/12/2014
- 35,000 (9) 2.97 1/18/2015
J. Patrick Rice 16,000 4,000 (7) 5.58 11/1/2016
15,000 -(3) 4.93 5/24/2012
11,750 11,750 (4) 5.38 7/8/2013
7,000 28,000 (8) 2.59 3/12/2014
- 40,000 (9) 2.97 1/18/2015
€] These options were granted to Mr. Slusser as a non-employee director of the Company.
2) These options became fully vested on January 16, 2008.
3) These options became fully vested on May 24, 2010.
@) These options became twenty percent vested on July 8, 2009, became fifty percent vested on July 8, 2010, and

will become fully vested on July 8, 2011.

®)
(6)

These options became fully vested on May 17, 2009.

These options will become fully vested on March 17, 2011.
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@) These options will become fully vested on November 1, 2011.

(8) These options vested twenty percent on March 12, 2009, became fifty percent vested on March 12, 2010 and
became fully vested on March 12, 2011.

©) These options vested twenty percent on January 18, 2011, become fifty percent vested on March 12, 2010
and become fully vested on March 12, 2011.

PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL
The Committee views severance protection for executive officers as a necessary part of compensation to remain
competitive in the market. The Named Executive Officers and certain other key executives are eligible for certain

benefits in the event their employment is terminated without cause. These benefits are:

. Subject to our regular payroll policies and practices, the continuation of salary, automobile, and health
insurance benefits for six months after the date the executive employee s employment ends;

. Accelerated vesting of all outstanding stock options that would have vested within one year from the date of
termination; and

. The payment of any earned but unpaid bonus for the prior year.
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The Board has determined that cause means (i) continually and willfully failing to perform the lawful responsibilities
assigned to the executive employee; (ii) engaging in conduct that is demonstrably and materially harmful to the
Company, including, but not limited to, engaging in inappropriate conduct toward other personnel or customers of the
Company, being under the influence of alcohol or non-prescription drugs while at work, failing to comply with the
provisions of a confidentiality agreement; (iii) misappropriating the Company s property; (iv) being convicted of a
felony or other crimes of moral turpitude; or (v) mishandling material, nonpublic information.

The following table sets forth the estimated payments that would be made in the event of a termination without cause
or change in control for the Named Executive Officers who are currently employed by the Company as of December
31, 2010:

Mr. Slusser Mr. Lamb Mr. Rice
Cash severance payment $165,000 $118,801 $100,002
Accelerated stock options (1) - - -
Continued health care benefits - 1,717 4,362
Continued auto allowance 3,000 1,200 3,000
Total $168,000 $121,718 $107,364

(1)  This amount would be based on the difference between the closing price of our Common Stock on
December 31, 2010 and the exercise prices for each option for which vesting would accelerate.

ESTIMATED VALUE ON CHANGE IN CONTROL

Certain stock options granted to the Named Executive Officers will vest immediately in the event of a change in
control. The exercise price of these options was greater than the closing price of the Company s Common Stock on
December 31, 2010.

2010 Director Compensation

The Company uses a combination of cash and stock option-based compensation to attract and retain qualified
candidates to serve on the Board. In setting director compensation, the Company considers the significant amount of
time that directors expend in fulfilling their duties to the Company as well as the skill level required by the Company
of members of the Board. Board compensation is determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board.
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Cash Compensation Paid to Board Members

For the year ended December 31, 2010, members of the Board who are not employees of the Company are entitled to
receive $15,000 if they attend at least 75 percent of the scheduled Board meetings and an additional $1,000 for each
meeting attended, including meetings attended telephonically. The Chairman of the Board, if a non-employee, would
receive an annual retainer of $10,000. The Board Secretary, if a non-employee, receives an annual retainer of $1,000,
and an additional $500 for each meeting attended. Directors who serve as a committee chair, or committee member,
receive an annual retainer of $5,000 and $2,500, respectively, for the Audit Committee; $2,500 and $1,250,
respectively for the Compensation Committee; and $1,500 and $750, respectively for the Nominating Committee. In
addition, each committee member receives $500 for each committee meeting attended. In addition to compensation
paid to Board members, each member also receives reimbursement for reasonable company-related travel expenses.

Stock Option Program

Each non-employee director receives a stock option grant for 10,000 shares of Common Stock on the day of our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The exercise price for these options is the fair market value of our Common Stock
as of market close on the date of the option grant. Options vest on the first anniversary of the grant date and expire
five years from the date of grant.
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2010 DIRECTOR SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The table below summarizes the compensation paid by the Company to non-employee directors for the year ended
December 31, 2010, and the grant-date fair value of stock option awards for the year ended December 31, 2010:

Fees Earned Option
or Paid in Awards Total
Name Cash ($) ($)4-2 ($)
Dennis C. Connors $31,250 $6,482 $37,732
Charles E. Maginness $28.750 $6,482 $35,232
Stuart B. Meisenzahl $33,750 $6,482 $40,232
E. Mark Rajkowski $30,000 $6,482 $36,482
Robert L. Tillman $26,250 $6,482 $32,732

(1) The amounts listed are equal to the grant-date fair value of options awarded in 2010. Compensation cost
recognized in 2010 for financial statement purposes in accordance with Topic 718, except no assumptions for
forfeitures were included. A discussion of the assumptions used in calculating the amount is set forth in Notes A and
J to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Note J to our Financial Statements included above.

(2) The number of unexercised stock options (vested and unvested) held by the non-employee directors at

December 31, 2010 was as follows: Mr. Tillman (50,000), Mr. Meisenzahl (50,000), Mr. Maginness (50,000),
Mr. Rajkowski (50,000) and Mr. Connors (38,333).

ITEM 12 - Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Equity Plan Information

In May 2001, the stockholders approved the 2001 Stock Option Plan. The 2001 Stock Option Plan replaced the 1986
Incentive Stock Option Plan which expired on December 31, 2001. In June 2003, the stockholders approved the 2003
Omnibus Incentive Plan.

The following table provides certain information regarding the Company s equity compensation plans as of December
31, 2010:
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

(@) (b) (c)
Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future
Number of issuance
Plan Category securities to be Weighted
issued upon average (excluding
exercise of exercise price securities
outstanding of outstanding reflected in
options options column a)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 1,662,933 $4.42 695,311
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders
Total 1,662,933 $4.42 695,311
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The Company has no equity compensation plans that have not been approved by its stockholders.

The following table, with notes thereto, sets forth as of March 25, 2011 certain information regarding the Common
Stock held by (i) persons known to us who own beneficially more than 5% of our Common Stock, (ii) each of our
directors, (iii) each of our Named Executive Officers, and (iv) all of our directors and executive officers as a group.
Unless otherwise indicated immediately beneath the beneficial owner s name, the address of each beneficial owner
listed in the table below is c/o PT, 205 Indigo Creek Drive, Rochester, New York 14626.

Shares Beneficially Owned

Name of Beneficial Amount and Nature
Owner of Beneficial Percent of Class (U
Ownership

Quaker Capital Management Corp.
Arrott Building, 401 Wood Street, Suite 1300 1,594,115®@ 14.3%

Pittsburgh, PA 15222
Ameriprise Financial, Inc.

145 Ameriprise Financial Center, 1,315,995® 11.8%

Minneapolis, MN 55474
Dimensional Fund Advisors LP

897,090 8.1%
1299 Ocean Avenue, Santa Monica, CA
Harris B. Leviton
600,600 5.4%
91 Revere Street, Boston, MA 02114
Charles E. Maginness 641,2426) 5.7%
John M. Slusser 412,261 3.7%
Dorrance W. Lamb 121,543® 1.1%
J. Patrick Rice 68,2509 *
Robert L. Tillman 75,000010) *
Stuart B. Meisenzahl 43250110 *
E. Mark Rajkowski 40,350012) *
Dennis C. Connors 28,333(13) *
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group (9 persons) 1,584,254(14) 12.2%

* Less than 1%.
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(D) Percentage of common shares beneficially owned is based upon 11,116,397 shares of Common Stock
outstanding as of March 25, 2011.

2) The following information is derived from Amendment No. 3 to Schedule 13G, dated February 16, 2010, filed
by Quaker Capital Management Corporation. Quaker Capital Partners I, L.P.; Quaker Premier, L.P.; Quaker Capital
Partners II, L.P.; Quaker Premier II, L.P.; and Mark G. Schoeppner are the listed affiliates of Quaker Capital
Management Corporation through which the securities being reported by Quaker Capital Management Corporation
were acquired. Quaker Premier, L.P. is the sole general partner of Quaker Capital Partners I, L.P. Quaker Premier II,
L.P. is the sole general partner of Quaker Capital Partners II, L.P. Quaker Capital Management Corporation has
shared voting and dispositive power over 1,594,115 shares. Quaker Capital Partners I, L.P. and Quaker Premier, L.P.
report sole voting and dispositive power over 1,053,300 shares. Quaker Capital Partners II, L.P. and Quaker Premier
IL, L.P. report sole voting and dispositive power over 540,815 shares. Mark G. Schoeppner disclaims beneficial
ownership of 1,594,115 shares that may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Quaker Capital Partners I, L.P. and
Quaker Capital Partners II, L.P.

3) The following information is derived from Amendment No. 1 to Schedule 13G, dated February 11, 2011, filed
by Ameriprise Financial, Inc. Columbia Investment Management Advisors, LLC; is a listed subsidiary which
acquired the securities being reported by the parent holding company. Columbia Investment Management Advisors,
LLC is an investment advisor to Columbia Small Cap Core Fund, which is a registered investment company.
Ameriprise Financial, Inc. has shared dispositive power over 1,315,995 shares and shared power to vote or to direct
the voting of 889,720 shares. Columbia Management Investment Advisors, LLC has shared dispositive power over
1,315,995 shares, and shared power to vote or to direct the voting of 889,720 shares. Columbia Small Cap Core Fund
has shared dispositive power over 643,041 shares, and sole power to vote or to direct the voting of 643,041 shares.

)] The following information is derived from Amendment No. 4 to Schedule 13G, dated February 11, 2011 filed
by Dimensional Fund Advisors LP. Dimensional Fund Advisors LP has sole voting power over 885,781 shares and
sole dispositive power over 897,090 shares.
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®)) The following information is derived from Amendment No. 2 to Schedule 13G, dated February 11, 2011 filed
by Harris B. Leviton. Mr. Leviton has sole voting and dispositive power over 598,750 shares and shared voting and
dispositive power over 1,850 shares.

(6) Includes (a) 50,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options currently exercisable; and (b)
93,247 shares of Common Stock owned of record by Mr. Maginness wife. Mr. Maginness disclaims beneficial
ownership of the shares owned by his wife.

@) Includes (a)142,500 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options currently exercisable; and (b)
10,000 shares of Common Stock owned of record by Mr. Slusser s wife. Mr. Slusser disclaims beneficial ownership of
the shares owned by his wife. Excludes 112,500 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options not yet

vested.

®) Includes 80,875 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options currently exercisable. Excludes
54,875 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options not yet vested.

(9)  Includes 68,250 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options currently exercisable. Excludes
65,250 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options not yet vested.

(10)  Includes 50,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options currently exercisable.

(11)  Includes 50,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options currently exercisable.

(12)  Includes (a) 50,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options currently exercisable; and (b)
350 shares of Common Stock owned of record by Mr. Rajkowski s wife. Mr. Rajkowski disclaims beneficial
ownership of the shares owned by his wife.

(13)  Includes 38,333 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options currently exercisable.

(14)  Includes 629,333 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options currently exercisable. Excludes
291,500 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options not yet vested.

ITEM 13 - Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence

There were no transactions with related persons, as defined by the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission,
during 2010.

Each year, the Board affirmatively determines the independence of each director and nominee for election as a
director as required by the NASDAQ Listing Standards.
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Based on these standards, the Board affirmatively determined that each of the following non-employee directors is
independent and has no relationship with the Company, except as a director and, if applicable, stockholder of the
Company:

(1) Dennis C. Connors (4) E. Mark Rajkowski
(2) Charles E. Maginness (5) Robert L. Tillman
(3) Stuart B. Meisenzahl

In addition, based on such standards, the Board affirmatively determined that John M. Slusser is not independent
because he is the chairman, president and chief executive officer of the Company.

ITEM 14 - Principal Accountant Fees and Services

During 2010 and 2009, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP billed us the following fees for the services discussed below:

2010 2009
Audit Fees $216,000 $248,000
Audit-Related Fees - -
Tax Fees - -
All Other Fees 2,000 2,000
Total $218,000 $250,000

Audit Fees: Audit fees in 2010 and 2009 were billed for the audit of the Company s annual consolidated financial
statements. Audit fees in both years include charges for the auditors review of our interim financial statements
included in Form 10-Q filed with the SEC as well as fees related to assistance with regulatory reviews of Company
filings, if any.
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Audit-Related Fees: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP did not incur any audit-related fees in either 2010 or 2009.
Tax Fees: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP did not incur any tax fees in either 2010 or 2009.

All Other Fees: All other fees in 2010 and 2009 were related to a subscription for an accounting literature research
product.

All audit and other fees paid in 2010 and 2009 were approved by the Audit Committee.

Effective in 2003, the Audit Committee established the following guidelines for securing non-audit services:

o The chairperson for the Audit Committee can authorize management, in advance, to secure non-audit services
up to $25,000 provided the Committee is informed on a timely basis of such commitment.

. The Audit Committee must pre-approve each non-audit service in excess of $25,000.

PART IV

ITEM 15 - Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

(1) Financial Statements

The financial statements filed as part of this report are included in the response to Item 8 of Part II of this Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Allowance for Doubtful Additions Deductions Balance at
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Accounts

Year End December 31, 2010

Deducted in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet from Accounts
Receivable

Allowance for doubtful
accounts

Year End December 31, 2009

Deducted in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet from Accounts
Receivable

Allowance for doubtful
accounts

Year End December 31, 2008

Deducted in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet from Accounts
Receivable

Allowance for doubtful
accounts

Schedule Il Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at
beginning of
period

$ 160,000

$ 410,000

$ 453,000

Charged
(credited)
to
earnings

91,000

(226,000 )

(4,000 )

76

Amounts
written
off
(recoveries)

$ 1,000

$ 24,000

$ 39,000)

end of
period
$ 250,000
$ 160,000
$ 410,000
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Valuation Allowance for
Deferred Tax Assets
Additions Deductions
Amounts
Balance at Charged written Balance at

beginning of to off end of
period earnings (recoveries) period

Year End December 31, 2010

Deducted in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet from Deferred
Tax Assets

Valuation Allowance for
Deferred Tax Assets $ 6,222,000 $ 4,022,000 $ - $ 10,244,000

Year End December 31, 2009

Deducted in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet from Deferred
Tax Assets

Valuation Allowance for
Deferred Tax Assets $ 460,000 $ 6,147,000 $ (385,000 ) $ 6,222,000

Year End December 31, 2008

Deducted in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet from Deferred
Tax Assets

Valuation Allowance for
Deferred Tax Assets $ 157,000 $ 303,000 $ - $ 460,000

There were no other financial statement schedules required to be filed because they are not applicable or the required
information is shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.

A3 Exhibits

Exhibit Ref.

Number Number Description

#2.1 *) Asset Sale Agreement between Registrant and GENBAND dated as of January
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2.2 *) Intellectual Property License Agreement between Registrant and GENBAND

dated as of January 11, 2011

3.1 (D) Restated Certificate of Incorporation

3.2 ) Certificate of Amendment

33 (D) Amended By-laws

33 (7 Amendment to By-laws

4.1 (D) Form of Common Stock Certificate

4.5 3) Rights Agreement

4.6 4 2001 Incentive Stock Option Plan

4.7 (6) 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan

10.16 (1) License Agreement between the Registrant and Spider Systems Limited dated March
18, 1992

10.30 (1) Form of Stock Option Agreement

10.33a &) Lease Agreement dated as of May 19, 2001 between the Registrant and Christa PT,
LLC

10.33b (5) First Amendment to Lease dated as of July 19, 2001 between the Registrant and

Christa PT, LLC

10.33c 5) Second Amendment to Lease dated as of July 31, 2001 between the Registrant and
Christa PT, LLC

21.1 (*) List of Subsidiaries
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31.1 (*) Certification of Chief Executive Officer
31.2 (*) Certification of Chief Financial Officer
32.1 (*) Section 1350 Certification

(1)  Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed November 22, 1995
(Registration No. 33-99684).

(2)  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2000.

(3)  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form 8-A12G filed
November 8, 2000 (Registration No. 000-27460).

(4)  Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Registrant s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 27, 2001.

5 Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.33(a)-(c) of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14,
2001.

(6)  Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Registrant s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 30, 2003.
(7)  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 28, 2007.

# Performance Technologies, Incorporated has requested confidential treatment of certain information contained
in this exhibit. Such information has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to

an application for confidential treatment under 17 C.F.R. §§ 200.80(b)(4) and 240.24b-2.

(*)  Included with this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Performance Technologies, Incorporated

Date: March 31, 2011 By:/s/ John M. Slusser
John M. Slusser
President and

Chief Executive Officer

By:/s/ Dorrance W. Lamb

Dorrance W. Lamb
Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated have signed this report.

Signature Title Date
[s/John M. Slusser Chairman of the Board, March 31, 2011
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John M. Slusser

[s/Dorrance W. LLamb

Dorrance W. Lamb

[s/Dennis C. Connors

Dennis C. Connors

[s/Charles E. Maginness

Charles E. Maginness

[s/Stuart B. Meisenzahl

Stuart B. Meisenzahl

[s/E. Mark Rajkowski

E. Mark Rajkowski
[s/Robert L. Tillman

Robert L. Tillman

President, Chief Executive

Officer (Principal Executive

Officer)

Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer (Principal

Financial and Accounting

Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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March 31, 2011

March 31, 2011

March 31, 2011

March 31, 2011

March 31, 2011

March 31, 2011
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